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DELTA REPORT
10-Q
ULH - UNIVERSAL LOGISTICS HOLDI

10-Q - SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 COMPARED TO 10-Q - JULY 01, 2023

TOTAL DELTAS 643

CHANGES 130
DELETIONS 245
ADDITIONS 268
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549
 

FORM 10-Q
 

(Mark One)

 

☒ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended July 1, September 30, 2023

or

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from  to .

Commission File Number: 0-51142

 

UNIVERSAL LOGISTICS HOLDINGS, INC.
(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

 

 

Michigan 38-3640097

(State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

12755 E. Nine Mile Road

Warren, Michigan 48089

(Address, including Zip Code of Principal Executive Offices)

(586) 920-0100

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

N/A

(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)
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Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

 

Title of each class Trading Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which 

registered

Common Stock, no par value ULH The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was

required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ☒ No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be

submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the

registrant was required to submit such files). Yes ☒ No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a

smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated

filer,” “smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer   ☐ Accelerated filer ☒

Non-accelerated filer   ☐ Smaller reporting company ☒

        Emerging growth company   ☐

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition 

period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the 

Exchange Act.	 ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ☐ No ☒

The number of shares of the registrant’s common stock, no par value, outstanding as of August 7, 2023November 6, 2023,

was 26,287,97326,284,223.

 

PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

UNIVERSAL LOGISTICS HOLDINGS, INC.

Unaudited Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share data)
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July 1,

2023    

December 

31,


2022    

September 

30,


2023    

December 

31,


2022  

Assets                        

Current assets:                    

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 65,014   $ 47,181   $ 16,811   $ 47,181 

Marketable securities     10,107      10,000      10,491      10,000 

Accounts receivable – net of allowance for credit 

losses of $14,019


   and $14,308, respectively    

317,25

4      350,720 

Accounts receivable – net of allowance for credit 

losses of $13,386


   and $14,308, respectively     307,452      350,720 

Other receivables     24,910      25,146      24,050      25,146 

Prepaid expenses and other     28,489      25,629      28,478      25,629 

Due from affiliates     2,124      976      1,939      976 

Total current assets    

447,89

8      459,652      389,221      459,652 

Property and equipment – net of accumulated 

depreciation of $347,388 and

   $352,231, respectively    

438,66

3      391,154 

Property and equipment – net of accumulated 

depreciation of $356,532 and

   $352,231, respectively     533,951      391,154 

Operating lease right-of-use asset    

100,09

3      99,731      92,542      99,731 

Goodwill    

170,73

0      170,730      170,730      170,730 

Intangible assets – net of accumulated 

amortization of $128,205 and $121,843, respectively     67,604      73,967 

Intangible assets – net of accumulated 

amortization of $131,383 and $121,843, respectively     64,427      73,967 

Deferred income taxes     1,394      1,394      1,394      1,394 

Other assets     8,984      7,050      7,011      7,050 

Total assets  $

1,235,3

66   $

1,203,6

78   $

1,259,27

6   $

1,203,67

8 
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Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity                    

Current liabilities:                    

Accounts payable  $ 76,730   $ 87,138   $ 83,893   $ 87,138 

Current portion of long-term debt     70,038      65,303      69,854      65,303 

Current portion of operating lease liabilities     29,614      28,227      29,124      28,227 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     41,774      43,106      43,249      43,106 

Insurance and claims     31,708      30,574      30,340      30,574 

Due to affiliates     27,259      20,627      14,853      20,627 

Income taxes payable     9,154      11,926      15,634      11,926 

Total current liabilities    

286,27

7      286,901      286,947      286,901 

Long-term liabilities:                    

Long-term debt, net of current portion    

308,00

5      313,197      317,355      313,197 

Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion     77,013      77,600      69,867      77,600 

Deferred income taxes     69,585      69,585      69,585      69,585 

Other long-term liabilities     5,096      9,465      5,367      9,465 

Total long-term liabilities    

459,69

9      469,847      462,174      469,847 

Shareholders' equity:                    

Common stock, no par value. Authorized 

100,000,000 shares; 31,006,629 and


 30,996,205 shares issued; 26,287,973 and 

26,277,549 shares outstanding,


   respectively     31,006      30,997 

Common stock, no par value. Authorized 

100,000,000 shares; 31,007,100 and


 30,996,205 shares issued; 26,284,223 and 

26,277,549 shares outstanding,


   respectively     31,007      30,997 

Paid-in capital     5,094      4,852      5,103      4,852 

Treasury stock, at cost; 4,718,656 shares    

(96,70

6)     (96,706)

Treasury stock, at cost; 4,722,877 and 4,718,656 

shares, respectively     (96,840)     (96,706)
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Retained earnings    

556,51

1      513,589      576,798      513,589 

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss):                    

Interest rate swaps, net of income taxes of 

$816 and $726, respectively     2,418      2,156 

Interest rate swaps, net of income taxes of 

$947 and $726, respectively     2,803      2,156 

Foreign currency translation adjustments     (8,933)     (7,958)     (8,716)     (7,958)

Total shareholders’ equity    

489,39

0      446,930      510,155      446,930 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  $

1,235,3

66   $

1,203,6

78   $

1,259,27

6   $

1,203,67

8 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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UNIVERSAL LOGISTICS HOLDINGS, INC.

Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Income

(In thousands, except per share data)

 

  

Thirteen Weeks 

Ended    

Twenty-six Weeks 

Ended    

Thirteen Weeks 

Ended    

Thirty-nine Weeks 

Ended  

  

July 1,

2023    

July 2,


2022    

July 1,

2023    

July 2,


2022    

Septem

ber 30,

2023    

Octob

er 1,


2022    

Septem

ber 30,


2023    

Octobe

r 1,

2022  

Operating revenues:                                                

Truckload services

  $

51,8

60    $

61,0

61    $

98,

261    $

118,

544    $

69,59

8    $

58,1

07    $

167,8

58    $

176,

651 

Brokerage services

   

60,3

25     

101,

929     

128

,99

8     

209,

101     

56,89

4     

83,6

87     

185,8

92     

292,

789 

Intermodal services

   

91,5

85     

156,

865     

202

,61

1     

314,

478     

86,63

0     

154,

391     

289,2

41     

468,

869 

Dedicated services

   

86,0

69     

79,4

52     

171

,30

1     

154,

938     

86,70

1     

86,6

13     

258,0

03     

241,

551 
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Value-added 

services

   

122,

733     

127,

875     

248

,79

7     

253,

982     

121,4

28     

122,

894     

370,2

25     

376,

875 

Total operating 

revenues

   

412,

572     

527,

182     

849

,96

8     

1,05

1,04

3     

421,2

51     

505,

692     

1,271,

219     

1,55

6,73

5 

Operating expenses:                                                

Purchased 

transportation and 

equipment rent    

139,

879     

227,

215     

295

,96

4     

459,

346     

147,4

70     

208,

870     

443,4

34     

668,

216 

Direct personnel 

and related benefits

   

138,

046     

126,

746     

277

,13

8     

262,

840     

134,8

66     

127,

125     

412,0

04     

389,

966 

Operating supplies 

and expenses    

41,1

01     

46,0

27     

87,

290     

88,1

51     

43,06

0     

44,7

34     

130,3

51     

132,

886 

Commission 

expense    

7,64

3     

10,7

57     

15,

815     

20,7

80      8,334     

10,6

32     

24,14

9     

31,4

12 

Occupancy expense

   

11,0

41     

10,0

01     

22,

193     

20,1

96     

10,91

3     

10,1

50     

33,10

6     

30,3

45 

General and 

administrative    

13,4

18     

12,1

29     

25,

334     

22,7

65     

13,63

3     

13,6

17     

38,96

7     

36,3

82 

Insurance and 

claims    

5,88

9     

2,59

8     

13,

968     

11,1

80      6,828     

5,74

5     

20,79

5     

16,9

25 

Depreciation and 

amortization    

19,1

60     

27,0

58     

37,

675     

43,2

86     

19,38

6     

15,0

48     

57,06

1     

58,3

33 

Total operating 

expenses

   

376,

177     

462,

531     

775

,37

7     

928,

544     

384,4

90     

435,

921     

1,159,

867     

1,36

4,46

5 

Income from 

operations    

36,3

95     

64,6

51     

74,

591     

122,

499     

36,76

1     

69,7

71     

111,3

52     

192,

270 

Interest income     621      6     

1,3

73      6      45      10      1,419      16 

Interest expense    

(5,7

42)    

(3,9

25)    

(11,

469)    

(6,35

8)    

(6,54

0)    

(4,5

00)    

(18,0

09)    

(10,

858)

Other non-operating 

income (expense)     284     

(82

3)     299      130      588      (454)     885      (324)
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Income before 

income taxes    

31,5

58     

59,9

09     

64,

794     

116,

277     

30,85

4     

64,8

27     

95,64

7     

181,

104 

Income tax expense    

7,99

2     

15,2

10     

16,

352     

29,5

70      7,807     

16,3

47     

24,15

9     

45,9

17 

Net income

  $

23,5

66    $

44,6

99    $

48,

442    $

86,7

07    $

23,04

7    $

48,4

80    $

71,48

8    $

135,

187 

Earnings per common 

share:                                    

Basic

  $ 0.90    $ 1.69    $

1.8

4    $ 3.25    $ 0.88    $ 1.84    $ 2.72    $ 5.10 

Diluted

  $ 0.90    $ 1.69    $

1.8

4    $ 3.25    $ 0.88    $ 1.84    $ 2.72    $ 5.09 

Weighted average 

number of common 

shares outstanding:                                    

Basic

   

26,2

87     

26,4

53     

26,

284     

26,6

60     

26,28

6     

26,2

78     

26,28

4     

26,5

33 

Diluted

   

26,3

08     

26,4

68     

26,

312     

26,6

68     

26,31

0     

26,3

09     

26,31

1     

26,5

51 

Dividends declared per 

common share   $

0.10

5    $

0.10

5    $

0.2

10    $

0.21

0    $ 0.105    $

0.10

5    $ 0.315    $

0.31

5 

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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UNIVERSAL LOGISTICS HOLDINGS, INC.

Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(In thousands)

 

  

Thirteen Weeks 

Ended    

Twenty-six Weeks 

Ended    

Thirteen Weeks 

Ended    

Thirty-nine Weeks 

Ended  

  

July 1,


2023    

July 2,

2022    

July 1,


2023    

July 2,


2022    

Septem

ber 30,

2023    

Octob

er 1,

2022    

Septem

ber 30,

2023    

Octob

er 1,


2022  
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Net Income   $

23,

566    $

44,

699    $

48,4

42    $

86,7

07    $

23,04

7    $

48,4

80    $

71,48

8    $

135,

187 

Other comprehensive 

income (loss):                                                

Unrealized changes in 

fair value of interest 

rate swaps,


   net of income taxes 

of $367, $(215), $90 

and $(133), 

respectively    

1,0

82     

(63

0)     262     

(38

9)

Unrealized changes in 

fair value of interest 

rate swaps,


   net of income taxes 

of $131, $972, $221 

and $838, respectively     385     

2,85

9      647     

2,47

0 

Foreign currency 

translation 

adjustments    

(88

6)    

1,0

12     

(97

5)    

(1,8

22)     217     

(54

8)     (758)    

(2,3

70)

Total other 

comprehensive 

income (loss)     196      382     

(71

3)    

(2,2

11)     602     

2,31

1      (111)     100 

Total comprehensive 

income   $

23,

762    $

45,

081    $

47,7

29    $

84,4

96    $

23,64

9    $

50,7

91    $

71,37

7    $

135,

287 

                                                

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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UNIVERSAL LOGISTICS HOLDINGS, INC.

Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

   Twenty-six Weeks Ended     Thirty-nine Weeks Ended  
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July 1,

2023    

July 2,


2022    

September 

30,

2023    

October 1,

2022  

Cash flows from operating activities:                    

Net income   $ 48,442   $ 86,707    $ 71,488   $

135,18

7 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 

provided by operating activities:                    

Depreciation and amortization     37,675      43,286      57,061      58,333 

Noncash lease expense     15,295      14,337      22,941      21,898 

Gain on marketable equity securities     (199)     (92)

Gain on disposal of property and equipment     (1,519)     (2,743)

(Gain) loss on marketable equity securities     (693)     399 

(Gain) loss on disposal of property and 

equipment     (1,511)     (4,237)

Amortization of debt issuance costs     378      207      568      356 

Write-off of debt issuance costs     —      583      —      583 

Stock-based compensation     251      162      261      172 

Provision for credit losses     4,116      5,501      4,334      7,740 

Deferred income taxes     —      133      —      (838)

Change in assets and liabilities:                        

Trade and other accounts receivable     29,518      (64,438)     40,853      (47,098)

Prepaid expenses and other assets     (4,509)     (4,424)     (2,121)     192 

Principal reduction in operating lease 

liabilities    

(15,11

7)     (13,085)     (22,910)     (20,543)

Accounts payable, accrued expenses, income

taxes payable,

   insurance and claims and other current 

liabilities    

(10,48

4)     8,154      1,772      (12,183)

Due to/from affiliates, net     5,484      (4,243)     (6,737)     4,903 

Other long-term liabilities     (4,369)     (727)     (4,098)     (367)

Net cash provided by operating activities    

104,96

2      69,318      161,208     

144,49

7 

Cash flows from investing activities:                        

Capital expenditures    

(79,84

2)     (37,544)     (192,098)     (85,810)
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Proceeds from the sale of property and 

equipment     2,540      5,567      3,290      10,366 

Proceeds from the sale of marketable securities     92      —      202      — 

Purchases of marketable securities     —      (114)     —      (925)

Net cash used in investing activities    

(77,21

0)     (32,091)     (188,606)     (76,369)

Cash flows from financing activities:                        

Proceeds from borrowing - revolving debt     —      262,065      113,860     

398,55

2 

Repayments of debt - revolving debt     —     

(274,82

8)     (87,790)    

(546,43

1)

Proceeds from borrowing - term debt     33,738      193,926      38,999     

318,71

4 

Repayments of debt - term debt    

(34,57

3)    

(192,26

2)     (55,981)    

(205,53

5)

Dividends paid     (5,520)     (8,422)     (8,280)     (11,181)

Capitalized financing costs     —      (1,723)     (947)     (4,417)

Purchases of treasury stock     —      (14,305)     (134)     (14,305)

Net cash used in financing activities     (6,355)     (35,549)     (273)     (64,603)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash 

equivalents     (3,564)     (927)     (2,699)     (2,811)

Net increase in cash     17,833      751      (30,370)     714 

Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of period     47,181      13,932      47,181      13,932 

Cash and cash equivalents – end of period   $ 65,014   $ 14,683    $ 16,811   $ 14,646 

Supplemental cash flow information:                    

Cash paid for interest   $ 11,018   $ 5,638    $ 17,062   $ 9,399 

Cash paid for income taxes   $ 19,511   $ 23,368    $ 20,479   $ 39,593 

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

5

 

UNIVERSAL LOGISTICS HOLDINGS, INC.

Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

(In thousands, except per share data)
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Com

mon


stock    

Paid-

in


capit

al    

Treas

ury

stock    

Retai

ned


earni

ngs    

Accu

mulat

ed

other


compr

ehensi

ve


incom

e 

(loss)     Total    

Com

mon


stock    

Paid-

in

capit

al    

Treas

ury

stock    

Retai

ned


earni

ngs    

Accu

mulat

ed


other

compr

ehens

ive

incom

e 

(loss)     Total  

Balances 

– 

Decembe

r 31, 2021  $

30,

98

8   $

4,6

39   $

(82

,38

5)  $

35

6,0

71   $

(7,1

03)  $

30

2,

21

0   $

30,

98

8   $

4,6

39   $

(82

,38

5)  $

35

6,0

71   $

(7,1

03)  $

30

2,

21

0 

Net 

income

    —      —      —     

42,

00

8      —     

42

,0

08      —      —      —     

42,

00

8      —     

42

,0

08 

Compr

ehensi

ve 

income 

(loss)     —      —      —      —     

(2,5

93)    

(2,

59

3)     —      —      —      —     

(2,5

93)    

(2,

59

3)

Divide

nds 

($0.105 

per 

share)     —      —      —     

(2,

81

9)     —     

(2,

81

9)     —      —      —     

(2,

81

9)     —     

(2,

81

9)

Purcha

ses of 

treasur

y stock     —      —     

(5,

25

4)     —      —     

(5,

25

4)     —      —     

(5,

25

4)     —      —     

(5,

25

4)

Stock 

based 

compe

nsatio

n     7     

15

5      —      —      —     

16

2      7     

15

5      —      —      —     

16

2 
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Balances 

– April 2, 

2022

 $

30,

99

5   $

4,7

94   $

(87

,63

9)  $

39

5,2

60   $

(9,6

96)  $

33

3,

71

4     

30,

99

5     

4,7

94     

(87

,63

9)    

39

5,2

60     

(9,6

96)    

33

3,

71

4 

Net 

income

    —      —      —     

44,

69

9      —     

44

,6

99      —      —      —     

44,

69

9      —     

44

,6

99 

Compr

ehensi

ve 

income 

(loss)     —      —      —      —      382     

38

2      —      —      —      —      382     

38

2 

Purcha

ses of 

treasur

y stock     —      —     

(9,

05

1)     —      —     

(9,

05

1)     —      —     

(9,

05

1)     —      —     

(9,

05

1)

Divide

nds 

($0.105 

per 

share)     —      —      —     

(2,

77

7)     —     

(2,

77

7)     -       -       —     

(2,

77

7)     —     

(2,

77

7)

Balances 

- July 2, 

2022

 $

30,

99

5   $

4,7

94   $

(96

,69

0)  $

43

7,1

82   $

(9,3

14)  $

36

6,

96

7     

30,

99

5     

4,7

94     

(96

,69

0)    

43

7,1

82     

(9,3

14)    

36

6,

96

7 

Net 

income

    —      —      —     

48,

48

0      —     

48

,4

80 

Compr

ehensi

ve 

income 

(loss)     —      —      —      —     

2,31

1     

2,

31

1 
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Divide

nds 

($0.105 

per 

share)     —      —      —     

(2,

75

9)     —     

(2,

75

9)

Stock 

based 

compe

nsatio

n     1      9       —      —      —      10 

Balances 

– 

October 

1, 2022  $

30,

99

6   $

4,8

03   $

(96

,69

0)  $

48

2,9

03   $

(7,0

03)  $

41

5,

00

9 

                                                    

Balances 

– 

Decembe

r 31, 2022  $

30,

99

7   $

4,8

52   $

(96

,70

6)  $

51

3,5

89   $

(5,8

02)  $

44

6,

93

0   $

30,

99

7   $

4,8

52   $

(96

,70

6)  $

51

3,5

89   $

(5,8

02)  $

44

6,

93

0 

Net 

income

    —      —      —     

24,

87

6      —     

24

,8

76      —      —      —     

24,

87

6      —     

24

,8

76 

Compr

ehensi

ve 

income 

(loss)     —      —      —      —     

(90

9)    

(9

09)     —      —      —      —     

(90

9)    

(9

09)

Divide

nds 

($0.105 

per 

share)     —      —      —     

(2,

75

9)     —     

(2,

75

9)     —      —      —     

(2,

75

9)     —     

(2,

75

9)

Stock 

based 

compe

nsatio

n     6     

15

5      —      —      —     

16

1      6     

15

5      —      —      —     

16

1 
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Balances 

– April 1, 

2023

 $

31,

00

3   $

5,0

07   $

(96

,70

6)  $

53

5,7

06   $

(6,7

11)  $

46

8,

29

9     

31,

00

3     

5,0

07     

(96

,70

6)    

53

5,7

06     

(6,7

11)    

46

8,

29

9 

Net 

income

    —      —      —     

23,

56

6      —     

23

,5

66      —      —      —     

23,

56

6      —     

23

,5

66 

Compr

ehensi

ve 

income 

(loss)     —      —      —      —      196     

19

6      —      —      —      —      196     

19

6 

Divide

nds 

($0.105 

per 

share)     —      —      —     

(2,

76

1)     —     

(2,

76

1)     —      —      —     

(2,

76

1)     —     

(2,

76

1)

Stock 

based 

compe

nsatio

n     3      87      —      —      —      90      3      87      —      —      —      90 

Balances 

- July 1, 

2023

 $

31,

00

6   $

5,0

94   $

(96

,70

6)  $

55

6,5

11   $

(6,5

15)  $

48

9,

39

0     

31,

00

6     

5,0

94     

(96

,70

6)    

55

6,5

11     

(6,5

15)    

48

9,

39

0 

Net 

income

    —      —      —     

23,

04

7      —     

23

,0

47 

Compr

ehensi

ve 

income 

(loss)     —      —      —      —      602     

60

2 

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us

©2023 Refi nitiv.  Al l  rights reserved. Republ ication or redistribution of Refi nitiv content, including
by fram ing or sim i lar m eans, is prohibi ted
w ithout the prior w ri tten consent of Refi nitiv.  'Refi nitiv' and the Refi nitiv logo  are
registered tradem arks of Refi nitiv and i ts affi l iated
com panies.

16/70

Purcha

ses of 

treasur

y stock     —      —     

(13

4)     —      —     

(1

34)

Divide

nds 

($0.105 

per 

share)     —      —      —     

(2,

76

0)     —     

(2,

76

0)

Stock 

based 

compe

nsatio

n     1      9       —      —      —      10 

Balances 

– 

Septemb

er 30, 

2023  $

31,

00

7   $

5,1

03   $

(96

,84

0)  $

57

6,7

98   $

(5,9

13)  $

51

0,

15

5 

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

 

 

6

UNIVERSAL LOGISTICS HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements

(1) Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of Universal Logistics Holdings, Inc. and its wholly-

owned subsidiaries (“Universal”) have been prepared by the Company’s management. In these notes, the terms “us,”

“we,” “our,” or the “Company” refer to Universal and its consolidated subsidiaries. In the opinion of management, the

unaudited consolidated financial statements include all normal recurring adjustments necessary to present fairly the

information required to be set forth therein. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in

consolidation. Certain information and note disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in

accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles have been condensed or omitted from these

statements pursuant to such rules and regulations and, accordingly, should be read in conjunction with the

consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 and for each of the years in the three-year
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period ended December 31, 2022 included in the Company’s Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the use of management’s estimates.

Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Our fiscal year ends on December 31 and consists of four quarters, each with thirteen weeks.

The Company made certain immaterial reclassifications to items in its prior financial statements so that their

presentation is consistent with the format in the financial statements for the period ended July 1, 2023September 30,

2023. These reclassifications, however, had no effect on reported consolidated net income, comprehensive income,

earnings per common share, cash flows, total assets or shareholders’ equity as previously reported.

In June 2022, the Company made a change in an accounting estimate to revise the estimated useful life and salvage

values of certain equipment. The change resulted in additional depreciation expense of $9.7 million recorded during

the quarter ended July 2, 2022 ($7.2 million net of tax, or $0.27 per basic and diluted share).

Current Economic Conditions

The Company makes estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts and disclosures included in its

financial statements and accompanying notes and assesses certain accounting matters that require consideration of

forecasted financial information. The Company's assumptions about future conditions important to these estimates

and assumptions are subject to uncertainty, including the negative impact inflationary pressures can have on our

operating costs. Prolonged periods of inflation could cause interest rates, equipment, maintenance, labor and other

operating costs to continue to increase.

(2) Revenue Recognition

Universal is a holding company that owns subsidiaries engaged in providing customized transportation and logistics

services. For financial reporting, we broadly group the services provided by our consolidated subsidiaries into the

following categories: truckload, brokerage, intermodal, dedicated and value-added. We disaggregate these categories

and report our service lines separately on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Truckload services include dry van, flatbed, heavy-haul and refrigerated operations. We transport a wide variety of

general commodities, including automotive parts, machinery, building materials, paper, food, consumer goods,

furniture, steel and other metals on behalf of customers in various industries.

To complement our available capacity, we provide customers with freight brokerage services by utilizing third-party

transportation providers to move freight. Brokerage services also include full-service domestic and international

freight forwarding and customs brokerage.

Intermodal services include rail-truck, steamship-truck and support services. Our intermodal support services are

primarily short- to medium-distance delivery of rail and steamship containers between the railhead or port and the

customer.

Dedicated services are primarily provided in support of automotive and retail customers using van equipment. Our

dedicated services are primarily short-run or round-trip moves within a defined geographic area.
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Transportation services are short-term in nature; agreements governing their provision generally have a term of one

year or less. They do not contain significant financing components. The Company recognizes revenue over the

period transportation services are provided to the customer, including service performed as of the end of the

reporting period for loads currently in-transit, in order to recognize the value that is transferred to a customer over

the course of the transportation service.

We determine revenue in-transit using the input method, under which revenue is recognized based on the duration

of time that has lapsed from the departure date (start of transportation services) to the arrival date (completion of

transportation services). Measurement of revenue in-transit requires the application of significant judgment. We

calculate the estimated percentage of an order’s transit time that is complete at period end, and we apply that

percentage of completion to the order’s estimated revenue.

7

UNIVERSAL LOGISTICS HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued

 

(2) Revenue Recognition - continued

Value-added services, which are typically dedicated to individual customer requirements, include material handling,

consolidation, sequencing, sub-assembly, cross-dock services, kitting, repacking, warehousing and returnable

container management. Value-added revenues are substantially driven by the level of demand for outsourced

logistics services. Major factors that affect value-added service revenue include changes in manufacturing supply

chain requirements and production levels in specific industries, particularly the North American automotive and

Class 8 heavy-truck industries.

Revenue is recognized as control of the promised goods or services is transferred to our customers, in an amount

that reflects the consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for its services. We have elected to use

the “right to invoice” practical expedient to recognize revenue, reflecting that a customer obtains the benefit

associated with value-added services as they are provided. The contracts in our value-added services businesses are

negotiated agreements, which contain both fixed and variable components. The variability of revenues is driven by

volumes and transactions, which are known as of an invoice date. Value-added service contracts typically have terms

that extend beyond one year, and they do not include financing components.

The following table provides information related to contract balances associated with our contracts with customers

(in thousands):

 

 

July 1,

2023    

December 31,

2022  

Prepaid expenses and other - contract assets   $ 789    $ 839 

    September 30,

2023

    December 31,


2022
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2023 2022

Prepaid expenses and other - contract assets   $ 2,021    $ 839 

We generally receive payment for performance obligations within 45 days of completion of transportation services

and 65 days for completion of value-added services. Contract assets in the table above generally relate to revenue in-

transit at the end of the reporting period.

(3) Marketable Securities

The Company accounts for its marketable equity securities in accordance with ASC Topic 321 “Investments- Equity

Securities.” ASC Topic 321 requires companies to measure equity investments at fair value, with changes in fair value

recognized in net income. The Company’s investments in marketable securities consist of equity securities with

readily determinable fair values. The cost basis of securities sold is based on the specific identification method, and

interest and dividends on securities are included in non-operating income (expense).

Marketable equity securities are carried at fair value, with gains and losses in fair market value included in the

determination of net income. The fair value of marketable equity securities is determined based on quoted market

prices in active markets, as described in Note 6.

The following table sets forth market value, cost basis, and unrealized gains on equity securities (in thousands):

 

 

July 1,


2023    

December 31,


2022    

September 30,


2023    

December 31,


2022  

Fair value   $ 10,107    $ 10,000    $ 10,491    $ 10,000 

Cost basis     7,265      7,351      9,974      7,351 

Unrealized gain   $ 2,842    $ 2,649    $ 517    $ 2,649 

The following table sets forth the gross unrealized gains and losses on the Company’s marketable securities (in

thousands):

 

 

July 1,

2023    

December 31,

2022  

Gross unrealized gains   $ 3,658    $ 3,513 

Gross unrealized losses     (816)     (864)

Net unrealized gains   $ 2,842    $ 2,649 

The following table shows the Company's net realized gains (losses) on marketable equity securities (in thousands):

    Thirteen Weeks Ended     Twenty-six Weeks Ended  

 

 

July 1,

2023    

July 2,

2022    

July 1,

2023    

July 2,


2022  

Realized gain                        

Sale proceeds   $ 92    $ —    $ 92    $ — 
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Cost basis of securities sold     1      —      1      — 

Realized gain   $ 91    $ —    $ 91    $ — 

                         

Realized gain, net of taxes   $ 68    $ —    $ 68    $ — 

 

 

September 30,

2023    

December 31,


2022  

Gross unrealized gains   $ 973    $ 3,513 

Gross unrealized losses     (456)     (864)

Net unrealized gains   $ 517    $ 2,649 
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(3) Marketable Securities – continued

The following table shows the Company's net realized gains (losses) on marketable equity securities (in thousands):

    Thirteen Weeks Ended     Thirty-nine Weeks Ended  

 

 

September 

30,


2023    

October 1,


2022    

September 

30,


2023    

October 1,

2022  

Realized gain                        

Sale proceeds   $ 110    $ —    $ 202    $ — 

Cost basis of securities sold     26      —      27      — 

Realized gain   $ 84    $ —    $ 175    $ — 

                         

Realized gain, net of taxes   $ 63    $ —    $ 131    $ — 

The Company did not sell marketable equity securities during the thirteen-week or twenty-six thirty-nine week period

July 2, 2022October 1, 2022.

During the thirteen-week and twenty-six thirty-nine week periods ended July 1, 2023September 30, 2023, our

marketable equity securities portfolio experienced a net unrealized pre-tax gain (loss) in market value of

approximately $121,000410,000 and $108,000518,000, respectively, which was reported in other non-operating

income (expense) for the period.
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During the thirteen-week and twenty-six thirty-nine week periods ended July 2, 2022October 1, 2022, our marketable

equity securities portfolio experienced a net unrealized pre-tax gain (loss) in market value of approximately

$(857,000491,000) and $$(92,000399,000), respectively, which was reported in other non-operating income (expense)

for the period.

(4) Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities are comprised of the following (in thousands):

 

  

July 1,


2023    

December 31,


2022    

September 30,

2023    

December 31,


2022  

Accrued payroll   $ 18,917    $ 15,889    $ 19,799    $ 15,889 

Accrued payroll taxes     3,041      2,124      2,203      2,124 

Driver escrow liabilities     3,983      4,101      3,782      4,101 

Legal settlements and claims     4,850      5,850      4,850      5,850 

Commissions, other taxes and 

other     10,983      15,142      12,615      15,142 

Total   $ 41,774    $ 43,106    $ 43,249    $ 43,106 
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(5) Debt

Debt is comprised of the following (in thousands):

 

  

Interest 

Rates

at July 1, 

2023  

July 1,


2023    

December 

31,


2022    

Interest 

Rates


at 

Septembe

r 30, 2023  

Septembe

r 30,

2023    

December 

31,


2022  

Outstanding Debt:                    

Revolving Credit 

Facility (1) (2)   6.49%   $ —    $ —    6.67%   $ 21,070    $ — 

UACL Credit 

Agreement (2)                            
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Term Loan   7.24%    

77,00

0      79,000    7.42%     70,500      79,000 

Revolver   7.24%     —      —    7.42%     5,000      — 

Equipment 

Financing (3)  

2.25% 

to 

7.27%    

157,6

10     

148,17

7   

2.25% to 

7.27%    

152,09

6     

148,17

7 

Real Estate Facility 

(4)   7.26%    

147,4

37     

155,70

5    7.44%    

143,30

4     

155,70

5 

Margin Facility (5)   6.24%     —      —    6.42%     —      — 

Unamortized debt 

issuance costs        

(4,00

4)     (4,382)         (4,761)     (4,382)

        

378,0

43     

378,50

0         

387,20

9     

378,50

0 

Less current 

portion of long-

term debt        

70,03

8      65,303          69,854      65,303 

Total long-term 

debt, net of 

current portion       $

308,0

05    $

313,19

7        $

317,35

5    $

313,19

7 

(1) On September 30, 2022, we amended our Revolving Credit Facility by increasing the revolving credit commitment

to up to $400.0 million. Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility may now be made until maturity on

September 30, 2027, and they bear interest at index-adjusted SOFR or a base rate plus an applicable margin for each

based on the Company’s leverage ratio. The term loan proceeds were advanced on November 27, 2018, and the

Company repaid in full its then outstanding balance on the term loan on April 29, 2022. The Revolving Credit Facility is

secured by a first-priority pledge of the capital stock of applicable subsidiaries, as well as first-priority perfected

security interests in cash, deposits, accounts receivable, and selected other assets of the applicable borrowers. The

Revolving Credit Facility includes customary affirmative and negative covenants and events of default, as well as

financial covenants requiring minimum fixed charge coverage and leverage ratios, and customary mandatory

prepayments provisions. At July 1, 2023September 30, 2023, we were in compliance with all covenants under the

facility, and $400.0378.9 million was available for borrowing on the revolver.
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(2) Our UACL Credit and Security Agreement (the “UACL Credit Agreement”) provides for maximum borrowings of $90

million in the form of an $80.0 million term loan and a $10.0 million revolver. Term loan proceeds were advanced on

September 30, 2022 and used to repay existing indebtedness under the Revolving Credit Facility. The term loan

matures on September 30, 2027 and will be repaid in consecutive quarterly installments, as defined in the UACL

Credit Agreement, commencing December 31, 2022. The remaining term loan balance is due at maturity. Borrowings

under the revolving credit facility may be made until maturity on September 30, 2027. Borrowings under the UACL

Credit Agreement bear interest at index-adjusted SOFR, or a base rate, plus an applicable margin for each based on

the borrower’s leverage ratio. The UACL Credit Agreement is secured by a first-priority pledge of the capital stock of

applicable subsidiaries, as well as first-priority perfected security interest in cash, deposits, accounts receivable, and

selected other assets of the applicable borrowers. The UACL Credit Agreement includes customary affirmative and

negative covenants and events of default, as well as financial covenants requiring minimum fixed charge coverage

and leverage ratios, and customary mandatory prepayments provisions. At July 1, 2023September 30, 2023, $10.0

million was available for borrowing on the revolver, and the borrowerswe were in compliance with all covenants

under the facility, provided that compliance with the fixed charge coverage ratio required application of aand $25.0

million equity cure by Universal Logistics Holdings, Inc. as permitted by was available for borrowing on the

agreement. After giving effect to application of net cash proceeds comprising the cure amount and recalculation of

the financial covenant, the borrowers were in compliance with the fixed charge coverage ratio at July 1,

2023.revolver.

(3) Our Equipment Financing consists of a series of promissory notes issued by a wholly owned subsidiary and a third

party. The equipment notes, which are secured by liens on specific titled vehicles, are generally payable in 60 monthly

installments and bear interest at fixed rates ranging from 2.25% to 7.27%.

(4) Our Real Estate Facility provides for a $165.4 million term loan, the full amount of which was advanced on April 29,

2022. The Company used the facility’s proceeds to repay then existing balances under a term loan portion of the

Revolving Credit Facility and certain other real estate financing obligations. The facility matures on April 29, 2032.

Obligations under the facility are secured by first-priority mortgages on specific parcels of real estate owned by the

Company, including all land and real property improvements, and first-priority assignments of rents and related

leases of the loan parties. The credit agreement includes customary affirmative and negative covenants, and principal

and interest are payable on the facility on a monthly basis, based on an annual amortization of 10%. The facility bears

interest at Term SOFR, plus an applicable margin equal to 2.12%. At July 1, 2023September 30, 2023, we were in

compliance with all covenants under the facility.
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(5) Our Margin Facility is a short-term line of credit secured by our portfolio of marketable securities. It bears interest

at Term SOFR plus 1.10%. The amount available under the line of credit is based on a percentage of the market value
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of the underlying securities. At July 1, 2023September 30, 2023, the maximum available borrowings under the line of

credit were $5.25.0 million.

The Company is also party to an interest rate swap agreement that qualifies for hedge accounting. The Company

executed the swap agreement to fix a portion of the interest rate on its variable rate debt. Under the swap

agreement, the Company receives interest at Term SOFR and pays a fixed rate of 2.88%. The swap agreement has an

effective date of April 29, 2022, a maturity date of April 30, 2027, and an amortizing notional amount of $88.385.8

million. At July 1, 2023September 30, 2023, the fair value of the swap agreement was an asset of $3.23.7 million. Since

the swap agreement qualifies for hedge accounting, the changes in fair value are recorded in other comprehensive

income (loss), net of tax. See Note 6 for additional information pertaining to interest rate swaps.

(6) Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures

FASB ASC Topic 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures,” defines fair value as the exchange price that would be

received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or

liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date and expanded disclosures

with respect to fair value measurements.

FASB ASC Topic 820 also establishes a three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair

value. This hierarchy requires entities to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of

unobservable inputs. The three levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows:

• Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

• Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar asse
and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are n
active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

• Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the f
value of the assets or liabilities. This includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and simi
techniques that use significant unobservable inputs.
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(6) Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures – continued

We have segregated all financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis into the

most appropriate level within the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used to determine the fair value at the

measurement date in the tables below (in thousands):

   July 1,

2023  

  September 30,


2023  
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Level 1     Level 2     Level 3    

Fair Value 

Measurement  

 

Level 

1    

Level 

2    

Level 

3    

Fair Value 

Measuremen

t  

Assets                                    

Cash 

equivalen

ts  $ 151    $ —    $ —    $ 151   $ 6    $ —    $ —    $ 6 

Marketab

le 

securities    

10,1

07      —      —      10,107     

10,4

91      —      —      10,491 

Interest 

rate swap     —     

3,2

34      —      3,234      —     

3,75

0      —      3,750 

Total

 $

10,2

58    $

3,2

34    $ —    $ 13,492   $

10,4

97    $

3,75

0    $ —    $ 14,247 

 
    December 31,


2022  

   

Level 1     Level 2     Level 3    

Fair Value 

Measurem

ent  

Assets                        

Cash equivalents  $ 13    $ —    $ —    $ 13 

Marketable securities     10,000      —      —      10,000 

Interest rate swap     —      2,882      —      2,882 

Total  $ 10,013    $ 2,882    $ —    $ 12,895 
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(6) Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures – continued

The valuation techniques used to measure fair value for the items in the tables above are as follows:

• Cash equivalents – This category consists of money market funds which are listed as Level 1 assets and measured
fair value based on quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.

• Marketable securities – Marketable securities represent equity securities, which consist of common and preferr
stocks, are actively traded on public exchanges and are listed as Level 1 assets. Fair value was measured based 
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quoted prices for these securities in active markets.

• Interest rate swap – The fair value of our interest rate swap is determined using a methodology of netting t
discounted future fixed cash payments (or receipts) and the discounted expected variable cash receipts (
payments). The variable cash receipts (or payments) are based on the expectation of future interest rates (forwa
curves) derived from observed market interest rate curves. The fair value measurement also incorporates cre
valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both the Company’s nonperformance risk and the respect
counterparty’s nonperformance risk.

Our Revolving Credit Facility and our Real Estate Facility consist of variable rate borrowings. We categorize these

borrowings as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. The carrying value of these borrowings approximate fair value

because the applicable interest rates are adjusted frequently based on short-term market rates.

For our Equipment Financing, the fair values are estimated using discounted cash flow analyses, based on our

current incremental borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements. We categorize these borrowings as

Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. The carrying value and estimated fair value of these promissory notes at July 1,

2023September 30, 2023 is summarized as follows:

    Carrying Value    

Estimated Fair


Value  

             

Equipment promissory notes  $ 157,610    $ 155,058 

    Carrying Value    

Estimated Fair

Value  

             

Equipment promissory notes  $ 152,096    $ 149,068 

 

We have not elected the fair value option for any of our financial instruments.
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(7) Leases

As of July 1, 2023September 30, 2023, our obligations under operating lease arrangements primarily relate to the

rental of office space, warehouses, freight distribution centers, terminal yards and equipment for which we recognize

a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability on our balance sheet. Right-of-use assets represent our right to

use an underlying asset over the lease term and lease liabilities represent the obligation to make lease payments

resulting from the lease agreement. We recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the effective date of a

lease agreement.
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Our lease obligations typically do not include options to purchase the leased property, nor do they contain residual

value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. Options to extend or terminate an agreement are included in the

lease term when it becomes reasonably certain the option will be exercised. As of July 1, 2023September 30, 2023, we

were not reasonably certain of exercising any renewal or termination options, and as such, no adjustments were

made to the right-of-use lease assets or corresponding liabilities.

Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less, short-term leases, are not recorded on the balance sheet. Lease

expense for short-term and long-term operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The following table summarizes our lease costs for the thirteen weeks and twenty-six weeks ended July 1, 2023 and

July 2, 2022 (in thousands):

    Thirteen Weeks Ended July 1, 2023  

 

  With Affiliates    

With Third 

Parties     Total  

Lease cost                  

Operating lease cost   $ 2,368    $ 6,836    $ 9,204 

Short-term lease cost     19      4,921      4,940 

Variable lease cost     223      834      1,057 

Sublease income     —      —      — 

Total lease cost   $ 2,610    $ 12,591    $ 15,201 

                   

    Thirteen Weeks Ended July 2, 2022  

 

  With Affiliates    

With Third 

Parties     Total  

Lease cost                  

Operating lease cost   $ 2,371    $ 6,214    $ 8,585 

Short-term lease cost     630      2,195      2,825 

Variable lease cost     221      784      1,005 

Sublease income     —      (28)     (28)

Total lease cost   $ 3,222    $ 9,165    $ 12,387 
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(7) Leases – continued
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    Twenty-six Weeks Ended July 1, 2023  

 

  With Affiliates    

With Third 

Parties     Total  

Lease cost                  

Operating lease cost   $ 4,779    $ 13,455    $ 18,234 

Short-term lease cost     26      8,950      8,976 

Variable lease cost     422      1,433      1,855 

Sublease income     —      —      — 

Total lease cost   $ 5,227    $ 23,838    $ 29,065 

                   

    Twenty-six Weeks Ended July 2, 2022  

 

  With Affiliates    

With Third 

Parties     Total  

Lease cost                  

Operating lease cost   $ 4,723    $ 12,492    $ 17,215 

Short-term lease cost     1,277      6,435      7,712 

Variable lease cost     415      1,691      2,106 

Sublease income     —      (113)     (113)

Total lease cost   $ 6,415    $ 20,505    $ 26,920 

The following table summarizes otherour lease related information as of and costs for the twenty-six week

periodsthirteen weeks and thirty-nine weeks ended July 1, 2023September 30, 2023 and July 2, 2022October 1, 2022

(in thousands):

    Thirteen Weeks Ended September 30, 2023  

 

 

With 

Affiliates    

With Third 

Parties     Total  

Lease cost                  

Operating lease cost   $ 2,387    $ 6,742    $ 9,129 

Short-term lease cost     24      4,039      4,063 

Variable lease cost     236      693      929 

Sublease income     —      —      — 

Total lease cost   $ 2,647    $ 11,474    $ 14,121 

                   

    Thirteen Weeks Ended October 1, 2022  
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    With 

Affiliates

    With Third 

Parties

    Total  

Lease cost                  

Operating lease cost   $ 2,391    $ 6,399    $ 8,790 

Short-term lease cost     630      1,582      2,212 

Variable lease cost     215      734      949 

Sublease income     —      —      — 

Total lease cost   $ 3,236    $ 8,715    $ 11,951 

    July 1, 2023  

 

 

With


Affiliates    

With Third


Parties     Total  

Other information                  

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating 

leases   $ 4,706    $ 13,315    $ 18,021 

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease 

liabilities   $ 145    $ 13,897    $ 14,042 

Right-of-use assets change due to lease termination   $ (64)   $ (66)   $ (130)

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years)     4.6      3.6      3.9 

Weighted-average discount rate     7.3%     5.3%     5.9%

                   

    July 2, 2022  

 

 

With


Affiliates    

With Third


Parties     Total  

Other information                  

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating 

leases   $ 4,559    $ 11,265    $ 15,824 

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease 

liabilities   $ 545    $ 15,493    $ 16,038 

Right-of-use assets change due to lease termination   $ —    $ (1,370)   $ (1,370)

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years)     5.3      4.0      4.4 

Weighted-average discount rate     6.6%     4.7%     5.4%

    Thirty-nine Weeks Ended September 30, 2023  

 

 

With 

Affiliates    

With Third 

Parties     Total  
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Lease cost                  

Operating lease cost   $ 7,166    $ 20,197    $ 27,363 

Short-term lease cost     50      12,989      13,039 

Variable lease cost     658      2,126      2,784 

Sublease income     —      —      — 

Total lease cost   $ 7,874    $ 35,312    $ 43,186 

                   

    Thirty-nine Weeks Ended October 1, 2022  

 

 

With 

Affiliates    

With Third 

Parties     Total  

Lease cost                  

Operating lease cost   $ 7,114    $ 18,891    $ 26,005 

Short-term lease cost     1,907      8,017      9,924 

Variable lease cost     630      2,425      3,055 

Sublease income     —      (113)     (113)

Total lease cost   $ 9,651    $ 29,220    $ 38,871 
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(7) Leases – continued

The following table summarizes other lease related information as of and for the thirty-nine week periods ended

September 30, 2023 and October 1, 2022 (in thousands):

    September 30, 2023  

 

 

With

Affiliates    

With Third

Parties     Total  

Other information                  

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating 

leases   $ 7,051    $ 20,163    $ 27,214 

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease 

liabilities   $ 321    $ 14,138    $ 14,459 
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Right-of-use assets change due to lease termination   $ (64)   $ (145)   $ (209)

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years)     4.4      3.4      3.7 

Weighted-average discount rate     7.3%     5.3%     6.0%

                   

    October 1, 2022  

 

 

With

Affiliates    

With Third

Parties     Total  

Other information                  

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating 

leases   $ 6,890    $ 17,626    $ 24,516 

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease 

liabilities   $ 1,074    $ 20,677    $ 21,751 

Right-of-use assets change due to lease termination   $ —    $ (1,370)   $ (1,370)

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years)     5.0      4.0      4.3 

Weighted-average discount rate     6.7%     4.7%     5.4%

Future minimum lease payments under these operating leases as of July 1, 2023September 30, 2023, are as follows (in

thousands):

 

 

With 

Affiliates    

With Third 

Parties     Total  

2023 (remaining)   $ 2,321    $ 6,595    $ 8,916 

2024     9,043      24,027      33,070 

2025     7,357      20,690      28,047 

2026     4,802      16,980      21,782 

2027     3,673      8,158      11,831 

Thereafter     6,737      1,335      8,072 

Total required lease payments   $ 33,933    $ 77,785    $ 111,718 

Less amounts representing interest                 (12,727)

Present value of lease liabilities               $ 98,991 

 

  With Affiliates    

With Third 

Parties     Total  

2023 (remaining)   $ 4,646    $ 13,449    $ 18,095 

2024     9,104      23,831      32,935 

2025     7,420      20,550      27,970 

2026     4,868      16,940      21,808 
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2027     3,741      8,158      11,899 

Thereafter     6,826      1,335      8,161 

Total required lease payments   $ 36,605    $ 84,263    $ 120,868 

Less amounts representing interest                 (14,241)

Present value of lease liabilities               $ 106,627 
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(8) Transactions with Affiliates

In the ordinary course of business, companies owned or controlled by our controlling shareholder Matthew T.

Moroun, provide us with certain supplementary administrative support services, including legal, human resources,

tax, and IT infrastructure services. Universal’s audit committee reviews and approves related party transactions. The

cost of these services is based on the actual or estimated utilization of the specific service.

Universal also purchases other services from companies owned or controlled by our controlling

shareholder.affiliates. Following is a schedule of costs incurred and included in operating expenses for services

provided by affiliates for the thirteen weeks and twenty-six thirty-nine weeks ended July 1, 2023September 30, 2023

and July 2, 2022October 1, 2022, respectively (in thousands): 

  

Thirteen Weeks 

Ended    

Twenty-six Weeks 

Ended    

Thirteen Weeks 

Ended    

Thirty-nine Weeks 

Ended  

  

July 1,

2023  

 

July 2,

2022  

 

July 1,

2023  

 

July 2,


2022  

  Septem

ber 30,


2023  

  Octobe

r 1,


2022  

  Septem

ber 30,


2023  

  Octobe

r 1,


2022  

Insurance  $

18,8

72   $

17,3

34   $

39,1

27   $

34,8

31   $

19,61

1   $

21,5

32   $

58,73

9   $

56,3

63 

Real estate rent and 

related costs    

3,27

1     

2,98

1     

6,53

8     

6,07

9      3,250     

3,03

5      9,789     

9,11

4 

Administrative 

support services     624     

1,11

2     

2,22

8     

2,29

4      2,994     

2,22

0      5,222     

4,51

4 

Truck fuel, 

maintenance and 

other operating 

costs    

1,85

6     

2,01

0     

3,79

4     

3,08

0      2,434     

2,39

0      6,228     

5,47

0 

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us

©2023 Refi nitiv.  Al l  rights reserved. Republ ication or redistribution of Refi nitiv content, including
by fram ing or sim i lar m eans, is prohibi ted
w ithout the prior w ri tten consent of Refi nitiv.  'Refi nitiv' and the Refi nitiv logo  are
registered tradem arks of Refi nitiv and i ts affi l iated
com panies.

33/70

Contracted 

transportation 

services     58      369      171      689      93      269      264      958 

Total  $

24,6

81   $

23,8

06   $

51,8

58   $

46,9

73   $

28,38

2   $

29,4

46   $

80,24

2   $

76,4

19 

We pay the direct variable cost of maintenance, fueling and other operational support costs for services delivered at

our affiliate’s trucking terminals that are geographically remote from our own facilities. Such costs are billed when

incurred, paid on a routine basis, and reflect actual labor utilization, repair parts costs or quantities of fuel purchased.

We lease 3230 facilities from related parties. Our occupancy is based on either month-to-month or contractual, multi-

year lease arrangements that are billed and paid monthly. Leasing properties from a related party affords us

significant operating flexibility; however, we are not limited to such arrangements. See Note 7, “Leases” for further

information regarding the cost of leased properties.

We purchase employee medical, workers’ compensation, property and casualty, cargo, warehousing and other

general liability insurance from an insurance company controlled by our controlling shareholder. In our Consolidated

Balance Sheets, we record our insured claims liability and the related recovery in insurance and claims, and other

receivables. At July 1, 2023September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, there were $17.616.4 million and $16.2 million,

respectively, included in each of these accounts for insured claims.
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(8) Transactions with Affiliates – continued

Other services from affiliates, including contracted transportation services, are delivered to us on a per-transaction

basis or pursuant to separate contractual arrangements provided in the ordinary course of business. At July 1,

2023September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, amounts due to affiliates were $27.314.9 million and $20.6 million,

respectively.

During the twenty-six thirty-nine weeks ended July 1, 2023September 30, 2023 and October 1, 2022, we purchased

used tractors from an affiliate totaling $6.3 million and $1.2 million, respectively. During the thirty-nine weeks ended

September 30, 2023, we contracted with an affiliate to provide real property improvements for us totaling $1.9million.

There were no such purchases made during the twenty-six thirty-nine weeks ended July 2, 2022October 1, 2022.

In June 2022, we executed a real estate contract with an affiliate to acquire a multi-building, office complex located in

Warren, Michigan for $8.3 million. The purchase price was established by an independent, third-party appraisal. The

Company made an initial deposit of $0.2 million in 2022, and paid the balance at closing in the first quarter of 2023.

15
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UNIVERSAL LOGISTICS HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued

(8) Transactions with Affiliates – continued

Services provided by Universal to Affiliates

We periodically assist companies that are owned by our controlling shareholder by providing selected transportation

and logistics services in connection with their specific customer contracts or purchase orders. Truck fueling and

administrative expenses are presented net in operating expense. Following is a schedule of services provided to

affiliates for the thirteen weeks and twenty-six thirty-nine weeks ended July 1, 2023September 30, 2023 and July 2,

2022October 1, 2022 (in thousands):

  

Thirteen Weeks 

Ended    

Twenty-six Weeks 

Ended    

Thirteen Weeks 

Ended    

Thirty-nine Weeks 

Ended  

  

July 1,


2023  

 

July 2,


2022  

 

July 1,


2023  

 

July 2,

2022  

  Septemb

er 30,


2023  

  Octob

er 1,


2022  

  Septemb

er 30,


2023  

  Octobe

r 1,

2022  

Contracted 

transportation 

services  $

1,76

6   $ 447   $

1,86

8   $ 602   $ 1,878   $ 59   $ 3,746   $ 662 

Facilities and 

related support     60      60      120      120      800      40      920      160 

Total  $

1,82

6   $ 507   $

1,98

8   $ 722   $ 2,678   $ 99   $ 4,666   $ 822 

At July 1, 2023September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, amounts due from affiliates were $2.11.9 million and $1.0

million, respectively.

In May 2022, we sold an inactive Mexican subsidiary to an affiliate for approximately $0.1 million. The purchase price

was based on the book value of the net assets sold in the transaction, and as such, no gain or loss was recorded.

On May 13, 2022, the Company commenced a “Dutch auction” tender offer to repurchase up to 100,000 shares of the

Company’s outstanding common stock at a price of not greater than $28.00 nor less than $25.00 per share. Following

the expiration of the tender offer on June 15, 2022, we accepted 164,189 shares, including 64,189 oversubscribed

shares tendered, of our common stock for purchase at $28.00 per share, for a total purchase price of approximately

$4.6 million, excluding fees and expenses related to the offer. The total number of shares purchased in the tender

offer includes 5,000 shares tendered by a director of the Company, Mr. H.E. “Scott” Wolfe. We paid for the accepted

shares with available cash and funds borrowed under our existing line of credit.

(9) Stock Based Compensation
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On April 23, 2014, our Board of Directors adopted our 2014 Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan. The Plan was

approved at the 2014 annual meeting of shareholders and became effective as of the date our Board adopted it. In

May 2022, the Company’s shareholders approved an amendment to the Plan to increase the number of shares of

common stock authorized for issuance by 200,000 shares. Grants under the Plan may be made in the form of

options, restricted stock awards, restricted stock purchase rights, stock appreciation rights, phantom stock units,

restricted stock units or shares of unrestricted common stock.

In May 2023, the Company granted 3,549 shares of common stock to non-employee directors. These restricted stock

awards have a fair value of $25.42 per share, based on the closing price of the Company’s stock on the grant date, and

vested immediately.

In March 2023, the Company granted 34,611 shares of restricted stock to certain of its employees, including 9,134

shares to our Chief Executive Officer and 8,441 shares to our Chief Financial Officer. The restricted stock awards have

a grant date fair value of $27.59 per share, based on the closing price of the Company’s stock. The shares will vest in

four equal installments on each March 15 in 2024, 2025, 2026, and 2027, subject to continued employment with the

Company.

In September 2021, the Company granted 2,355 shares of restricted stock to an employee of the Company. The

restricted stock award has a fair value of $20.46 per share, based on the closing price of the Company’s stock on the

grant date. The unvested shares will vest in five equal increments on each August 9 in 2022, 2023, 2024, 2025 and

2026, subject to continued employment with the Company.

In February 2020, the Company granted 5,000 shares of restricted stock to our Chief Financial Officer. The restricted

stock award has a fair value of $17.74 per share, based on the closing price of the Company’s stock on the grant date.

The shares will vest on February 20, 2024, subject to his continued employment with the Company.
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(9) Stock Based Compensation – continued

In January 2020, the Company granted 60,000 shares of restricted stock to our Chief Executive Officer. The restricted

stock award has a fair value of $18.82 per share, based on the closing price of the Company’s stock on the grant date.

The shares will vest in installments of 20,000 shares on January 10, 2024 and January 10, 2026, and installments of

10,000 shares on January 10, 2027 and January 10, 2028, subject to his continued employment with the Company.

A grantee’s vesting of restricted stock awards may be accelerated under certain conditions, including retirement.

The following table summarizes the status of the Company’s non-vested shares and related information for the

period indicated:
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Shares    

Weighted


Average Grant


Date Fair Value  

 

Shares    

Weighted

Average Grant


Date Fair Value  

Non-vested at January 1, 2023     73,759   $ 19.23      73,759   $ 19.23 

Granted     38,160   $ 27.39      38,160   $ 27.39 

Vested     (10,424)  $ 24.19      (10,895)  $ 24.03 

Forfeited     —   $ —      (566)  $ 27.59 

Balance at July 1, 2023     101,495   $ 21.79 

Balance at September 30, 2023     100,458   $ 21.76 

In the twenty-six thirty-nine week periods ended July 1, 2023September 30, 2023 and July 2, 2022October 1, 2022, the

total grant date fair value of vested shares recognized as compensation costs was $0.3 million and $0.2 million,

respectively. Included in compensation cost during the twenty-six thirty-nine week period ended July 1,

2023September 30, 2023 was approximately $0.1 million recognized as a result of the grant of 3,549 shares of stock to

non-employee directors. No non-employee directors compensation costs was recorded during the twenty-six thirty-

nine week period ended July 2, 2022October 1, 2022. As of July 1, 2023September 30, 2023, there was approximately

$2.2 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested share-based compensation

arrangements. That cost is expected to be recognized on a straight-line basis over the remaining vesting period. As a

result, the Company expects to recognize stock-based compensation expense of $0.7 million in 2024, $0.3 million in

2025, $0.6 million in 2026, $0.4 million in 2027, and $0.2 million in 2028.

(10) Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per common share amounts are based on the weighted average number of common shares

outstanding, excluding outstanding non-vested restricted stock. Diluted earnings per common share include dilutive

common stock equivalents determined by the treasury stock method. For the thirteen weeks and twenty-six thirty-

nine weeks ended July 1, 2023September 30, 2023, there were 21,63424,021 and 27,95426,553 weighted average non-

vested shares of restricted stock, respectively, included in the denominator for the calculation of diluted earnings per

share. For the thirteen weeks and twenty-six thirty-nine weeks ended July 2, 2022October 1, 2022, 14,55430,919 and

8,24717,739 weighted average non-vested shares of restricted stock, respectively, were included in the denominator

for the calculation of diluted earnings per share.

In the thirteen weeks and twenty-six weeks ended July 2, 2022, we excluded 0 and 6,875No shares respectively, of

non-vested restricted stock from the calculation of diluted earnings per share because such shares were anti-dilutive.

No such shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share due to anti-dilution during the

thirteen weeks or twenty-six thirty-nine weeks ended July 1, 2023September 30, 2023 or October 2, 2022.

(11) Dividends

On April July 27, 2023, our Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.105 per share of common stock, payable

on July 3, October 2, 2023 to shareholders of record at the close of business on June 5, September 4, 2023. Declaration
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of future cash dividends is subject to final determination by the Board of Directors each quarter after its review of our

financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, any legal or contractual restrictions on the payment

of dividends and other factors the Board of Directors deems relevant.
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(12) Segment Reporting

We report our financial results in four distinct reportable segments: contract logistics, intermodal, trucking, and

company-managed brokerage, which are based primarily on the services each segment provides. This presentation

reflects the manner in which management evaluates our operating segments, including an evaluation of economic

characteristics and applicable aggregation criteria.

Operations aggregated in our contract logistics segment deliver value-added and/or dedicated transportation

services to support in-bound logistics to original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) and major retailers on a

contractual basis, generally pursuant to terms of one year or longer. Our intermodal segment is associated with local

and regional drayage moves coordinated by company-managed terminals using a mix of owner-operators, company

equipment and third-party capacity providers (broker carriers). Operations aggregated in our trucking segment are

associated with individual freight shipments coordinated primarily by our agents using a mix of owner-operators,

company equipment and broker carriers. Our company-managed brokerage segment provides for the pick-up and

delivery of individual freight shipments using broker carriers, coordinated by our company-managed operations.

Other non-reportable segments are comprised of the Company’s subsidiaries that provide support services to other

subsidiaries.

Separate balance sheets are not prepared by segment, and we do not provide asset information by segment to the

chief operating decision maker.

The following tables summarize information about our reportable segments for the thirteen week and twenty-

six thirty-nine week periods ended July 1, 2023September 30, 2023 and July 2, 2022October 1, 2022 (in thousands):

   Operating Revenues     Operating Revenues  

  

Thirteen Weeks 

Ended    

Twenty-six Weeks 

Ended     Thirteen Weeks Ended    

Thirty-nine Weeks 

Ended  

  

July 1,

2023    

July 2,


2022    

July 1,

2023    

July 2,

2022    

Septemb

er 30,

2023    

Octobe

r 1,


2022    

Septemb

er 30,


2023    

October 

1,

2022  

Contract 

logistics   $

208,

802    $

207,

327    $

420,

098    $

408,9

20    $

208,12

9    $

209,

507    $

628,22

8    $

618,4

26 
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Intermodal

   

91,5

85     

156,

865     

202,

611     

314,4

78      86,630     

154,

391     

289,24

1     

468,8

69 

Trucking

   

81,2

43     

106,

545     

160,

958     

204,0

30      97,085     

99,6

19     

258,04

3     

303,6

49 

Company-

managed 

brokerage    

29,5

95     

55,1

19     

63,5

51     

120,3

25      28,102     

40,6

15      91,652     

160,9

40 

Other

   

1,34

7     

1,32

6     

2,75

0      3,290      1,305     

1,56

0      4,055      4,851 

Total 

operating 

revenues   $

412,

572    $

527,

182    $

849,

968    $

1,051,

043    $

421,25

1    $

505,

692    $

1,271,

219    $

1,556

,735 

 

   Eliminated Inter-segment Revenues     Eliminated Inter-segment Revenues  

  

Thirteen Weeks 

Ended    

Twenty-six Weeks 

Ended    

Thirteen Weeks 

Ended    

Thirty-nine Weeks 

Ended  

  

July 1,


2023    

July 2,

2022    

July 1,


2023    

July 2,


2022    

Septemb

er 30,

2023    

Octobe

r 1,

2022    

Septemb

er 30,

2023    

Octobe

r 1,


2022  

Contract logistics

  $ 136    $

1,50

0    $ 436    $ 3,219    $ 93    $ 955    $ 530    $

4,17

4 

Intermodal

    844     

2,59

4     

1,80

9      6,054      591     

1,36

3      2,400     

7,41

7 

Trucking     198      51      339      116      155      34      493      150 

Company-

managed 

brokerage     932      956     

1,83

8      1,834      395      562      2,234     

2,39

7 

Total eliminated 

inter-segment 

revenues   $

2,11

0    $

5,10

1    $

4,42

2    $

11,22

3    $ 1,234    $

2,91

4    $ 5,657    $

14,1

38 

 

   Income from Operations     Income from Operations  

  

Thirteen Weeks 

Ended    

Twenty-six Weeks 

Ended     Thirteen Weeks Ended    

Thirty-nine Weeks 

Ended  
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July 1,


2023    

July 2,

2022    

July 1,

2023    

July 2,


2022    

Septemb

er 30,


2023    

October 

1,

2022    

Septemb

er 30,

2023    

Octobe

r 1,


2022  

Contract 

logistics   $

32,7

89    $

29,4

25    $

60,5

70    $

52,90

0    $ 35,103    $

35,4

00    $ 95,673    $

88,3

00 

Intermodal

    (246)    

21,3

68     

6,56

5     

44,37

8      (4,324)    

28,1

48      2,241     

72,5

26 

Trucking

   

4,42

3     

9,61

1     

8,21

2     

17,03

0      6,558     

4,79

1      14,770     

21,8

21 

Company-

managed 

brokerage     (786)    

4,15

5     

(1,16

0)     8,018      (1,070)    

1,07

9      (2,230)    

9,09

7 

Other     215      92      404      173      494      353      898      526 

Total income 

from 

operations   $

36,3

95    $

64,6

51    $

74,5

91    $

122,4

99    $ 36,761    $

69,7

71    $

111,35

2    $

192,

270 

 

1718

UNIVERSAL LOGISTICS HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued

 

(13) Commitments and Contingencies

Our principal commitments relate to long-term real estate leases and payment obligations to equipment vendors.

The Company is involved in certain other claims and pending litigation arising from the ordinary conduct of business.

We also provide accruals for claims within our self-insured retention amounts. Based on the knowledge of the facts,

and in certain cases, opinions of outside counsel, in the Company’s opinion the resolution of these claims and

pending litigation will not have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

However, if we experience claims that are not covered by our insurance or that exceed our estimated claim reserve, it

could increase the volatility of our earnings and have a materially adverse effect on our financial condition, results of

operations or cash flows.

At July 1, 2023September 30, 2023, approximately 32% of our employees were subject to collective bargaining

agreements that are renegotiated periodically, 1817% of which are subject to contracts that expire in 2023.

(14) Subsequent Events
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On July 7, 2023, the Company closed on the purchase of a terminal in Compton, Los Angeles County, California. The

purchase price was $80.0 million. The Company previously made a deposit of $1.0 million and used a combination of

available cash on hand and funds borrowed under its existing line of credit to fund the balance at closing.

On July 27, October 26, 2023, our Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.105 per share of common stock,

payable on October January 2, 20232024 to shareholders of record at the close of business on SeptemberDecember

4, 2023. Declaration of future cash dividends is subject to final determination by the Board of Directors each quarter

after its review of our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, any legal or contractual

restrictions on the payment of dividends and other factors the Board of Directors deems relevant.

1819

 

ITEM 2: MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Some of the statements and assumptions in this Form 10-Q are forward-looking statements. These statements identify

prospective information. Important factors could cause actual results to differ, possibly materially, from those in the forward-

looking statements. In some cases you can identify forward-looking statements by words such as “anticipate,” “expect,” “believe,”

“targets,” “could,” “estimate,” “plan,” “intend,” “may,” “should,” “will” and “would” or other similar words. You should read

statements that contain these words carefully because they discuss our future expectations, contain projections of our future

results of operations or of our financial position or state other “forward-looking” information. Forward-looking statements should

not be read as a guarantee of future performance or results and will not necessarily be accurate indications of the times at, or by

which, such performance or results will be achieved. Forward-looking information is based on information available at the time

and/or management’s good faith belief with respect to future events and is subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause

actual performance or results to differ materially from those expressed in the statements. The factors listed in the section

captioned “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 and Part II, Item 1A of this Form

10-Q, as well as any other cautionary language in these filings, provide examples of risks, uncertainties and events that may

cause our actual results to differ materially from the expectations we describe in our forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date the statements are made. We assume no obligation to update forward-

looking statements to reflect actual results, changes in assumptions or changes in other factors affecting forward-looking

information except to the extent required by applicable securities laws. If we do update one or more forward-looking statements,

no inference should be drawn that we will make additional updates with respect thereto or with respect to other forward-looking

statements.

Overview

Universal Logistics Holdings, Inc. is a holding company that owns subsidiaries engaged in providing a variety of customized

transportation and logistics solutions throughout the United States, and in Mexico, Canada and Colombia. Our operating

subsidiaries provide customers with a broad array of services across their entire supply chain, including truckload,

brokerage, intermodal, dedicated and value-added services.

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us

©2023 Refi nitiv.  Al l  rights reserved. Republ ication or redistribution of Refi nitiv content, including
by fram ing or sim i lar m eans, is prohibi ted
w ithout the prior w ri tten consent of Refi nitiv.  'Refi nitiv' and the Refi nitiv logo  are
registered tradem arks of Refi nitiv and i ts affi l iated
com panies.

41/70

Our operating subsidiaries provide a comprehensive suite of transportation and logistics solutions that allow our

customers and clients to reduce costs and manage their global supply chains more efficiently. We market our services

through a direct sales and marketing network focused on selling our portfolio of services to large customers in specific

industry sectors, through a network of agents who solicit freight business directly from shippers, and through company-

managed facilities and full-service freight forwarding and customs house brokerage offices. We believe our flexible

business model is highly scalable and will continue to support our growth with comparatively modest capital expenditure

requirements. Our business model, combined with a disciplined approach to contract structuring and pricing, creates a

highly flexible cost structure that allows us to expand and contract quickly in response to changes in demand from our

customers.

We generate substantially all of our revenues through fees charged to customers for the transportation of freight and for

the customized logistics services we provide. We also derive revenue from fuel surcharges, where separately identifiable,

loading and unloading activities, equipment detention, container management and storage and other related services.

Operations aggregated in our transportation segment are associated with individual freight shipments coordinated by our

agents, company-managed terminals and specialized services operations. In contrast, operations aggregated in our

logistics segment deliver value-added services and transportation services to specific customers on a dedicated basis,

generally pursuant to contract terms of one year or longer. Our segments are distinguished by the amount of forward

visibility we have in regard to pricing and volumes, and also by the extent to which we dedicate resources and Company-

owned equipment.

The following discussion of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Consolidated Financial

Statements and related notes included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the

unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Current Economic Conditions

As a leading provider of customized freight transportation and logistics solutions, our business can be impacted to varying

degrees by factors beyond our control. The COVID-19 virus that emerged in 2020 affected economic activity broadly and

customer sectors served by our industry. Labor and equipment shortages continue to present challenges to many

transportation-related industries. Disruptions in supply chains for industrial materials and supplies have impacted some of

the end-market activities that create demand for our services, and a significant labor dispute involving one or more of our

customers could reduce our revenues and harm our profitability. We cannot predict how long these dynamics will last, or

whether future challenges, if any, will adversely affect our results of operations.

20

Additionally, economic inflation can have a negative impact on our operating costs, and any economic recession could

depress activity levels and adversely affect our results of operations. A prolonged period of inflationary pressures could

cause interest rates, equipment, maintenance, labor and other operating costs to continue to increase. If the Company is
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unable to offset rising costs through corresponding customer rate increases, such increases could adversely affect our

results of operations.

19

While operating cash flows However, the pricing environment generally becomes more competitive during economic

downturns, which may, be negatively impacted by inflation-driven cost increases, as it has in the Company believes we will

be able to financepast, affect our near term needs for working capital over the next twelve months, as well as any planned

capital expenditures during such period, with cash balances, cash flows from operations, and loans and extensions of

credit under our credit facilities and on margin against our marketable securities. Should the impact of inflation-driven cost

increases last longer than anticipated, and/or our cash flow from operations decline more than expected, we may

need ability to obtain additional financing. The Company’s ability to fund future operating expensesprice increases from

customers both during and capital expenditures, as well as its ability to meet future debt service obligations or refinance

indebtedness will depend on future operating performance, which will be affected by general following such periods. Also,

an economic financial, and other factors beyond our control.recession could depress customer demand for transportation

services.

Operating Revenues

For financial reporting, we broadly group our services into the following categories: truckload services, brokerage services,

intermodal services, dedicated services and value-added services. Our truckload, brokerage and intermodal services are

associated with individual freight shipments coordinated by our agents and company-managed terminals, while our

dedicated and value-added services are provided to specific customers on a contractual basis, generally pursuant to

contract terms of one year or longer. The following table sets forth operating revenues resulting from each of these

categories for the thirteen weeks and twenty-six thirty-nine weeks ended July 1, 2023September 30, 2023 and July 2,

2022October 1, 2022, presented as a percentage of total operating revenues:

 

    

Thirteen Weeks 

Ended    

Twenty-six Weeks 

Ended      

Thirteen Weeks 

Ended    

Thirty-nine 

Weeks Ended  

   

July 1,

2023  

 

July 2,

2022  

 

July 1,

2023  

 

July 2,

2022     

Sept

emb

er 

30,


2023  

 

Octo

ber 

1,

2022  

  Sept

emb

er 

30,


2023  

 

Octo

ber 

1,

2022  

Operat

ing 

revenu

es:

Operat

ing 

revenu

es:                        

Operat

ing 

revenu

es:                        
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Truc

kloa

d 

servi

ces

Truc

kloa

d 

servi

ces    

12

.6%    

11

.6%    

11

.6%    

11

.3%

Truc

kloa

d 

servi

ces    

16

.5%    

11

.5%    

13

.2%    

11

.3%

Brok

erag

e 

servi

ces

Brok

erag

e 

servi

ces    

14

.6     

19

.3     

15

.2     

19

.9 

Brok

erag

e 

servi

ces    

13

.5     

16

.5     

14

.6     

18

.8 

Inter

mod

al 

servi

ces

Inter

mod

al 

servi

ces    

22

.2     

29

.8     

23

.8     

29

.9 

Inter

mod

al 

servi

ces    

20

.6     

30

.5     

22

.8     

30

.1 

Dedi

cate

d 

servi

ces

Dedi

cate

d 

servi

ces    

20

.9     

15

.1     

20

.2     

14

.7 

Dedi

cate

d 

servi

ces    

20

.6     

17

.1     

20

.3     

15

.5 

Valu

e-

adde

d 

servi

ces

Valu

e-

adde

d 

servi

ces    

29

.7     

24

.2     

29

.2     

24

.2 

Valu

e-

add

ed 

servi

ces    

28

.8     

24

.4     

29

.1     

24

.3 

To

tal 

op

er

ati

ng 

re

ve

nu

es

To

tal 

op

er

ati

ng 

re

ve

nu

es    

10

0.

0%    

10

0.

0%    

10

0.

0%    

10

0.

0%

To

tal 

op

er

ati

ng 

re

ve

nu

es    

10

0.

0%    

10

0.

0%    

10

0.

0%    

10

0.

0%

Results of Operations

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us

©2023 Refi nitiv.  Al l  rights reserved. Republ ication or redistribution of Refi nitiv content, including
by fram ing or sim i lar m eans, is prohibi ted
w ithout the prior w ri tten consent of Refi nitiv.  'Refi nitiv' and the Refi nitiv logo  are
registered tradem arks of Refi nitiv and i ts affi l iated
com panies.

44/70

Thirteen Weeks Ended September 30, 2023 Compared to Thirteen Weeks Ended October 1, 2022

The following table sets forth items derived from our consolidated statements of income for the thirteen weeks ended

September 30, 2023 and twenty-six weeks ended July 1, 2023 and July 2, 2022, presented as a percentage of operating

revenues:October 1, 2022:

 

  

Thirteen Weeks 

Ended    

Twenty-six Weeks 

Ended     Thirteen Weeks Ended  

  

July 

1,

2023  

 

July 2,

2022  

 

July 1,

2023  

 

July 2,

2022    

September 30,

2023  

 

October 1,


2022  

  Percent 

Change in 

Dollar 

Amount  

Operating 

revenues:    

10

0.0%

 

 

10

0.0%

 

 

10

0.0%

 

 

10

0.0%

(Dollars in 

millions)   $  

 

%  

 

$  

 

%  

 

%  

Operating 

revenues   $

42

1,2

51     

10

0.

0%   $

50

5,6

92     

10

0.

0%     (16.7)%

Operating 

expenses:      

 

   

 

   

 

                             

Purchased 

transportatio

n and 

equipment 

rent    

33.

9 

 

 

43.

1 

 

 

34.

8 

 

 

43.

7     

14

7,4

70     

35

.0     

20

8,8

70     

41

.3      (29.4)

Direct 

personnel and 

related 

benefits    

33.

5 

 

 

24.

0 

 

 

32.

6 

 

 

25.

0     

13

4,8

66     

32

.0     

12

7,1

25     

25

.1      6.1 

Operating 

supplies and 

expenses    

10.

0 

 

  8.7 

 

 

10.

3 

 

  8.4     

43,

06

0     

10

.2     

44,

73

4     

8.

8      (3.7)

Commission 

expense

    1.9 

 

  2.0 

 

  1.9 

 

  2.0     

8,3

34     

2.

0     

10,

63

2     

2.

1      (21.6)
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Occupancy 

expense

    2.7 

 

  1.9 

 

  2.6 

 

  1.9     

10,

91

3     

2.

6     

10,

15

0     

2.

0      7.5 

General and 

administrative

    3.3 

 

  2.3 

 

  3.0 

 

  2.2     

13,

63

3     

3.

2     

13,

61

7     

2.

7      0.1 

Insurance and 

claims     1.4 

 

  0.5 

 

  1.6 

 

  1.1     

6,8

28     

1.

6     

5,7

45     

1.

1      18.9 

Depreciation 

and 

amortization     4.6 

 

  5.1 

 

  4.4 

 

  4.1     

19,

38

6     

4.

6     

15,

04

8     

3.

0      28.8 

Total 

operating 

expenses    

91.

2 

 

 

87.

7 

 

 

91.

2 

 

 

88.

3     

38

4,4

90     

91

.3     

43

5,9

21     

86

.2      (11.8)

Income from 

operations

    8.8 

 

 

12.

3 

 

  8.8 

 

 

11.

7     

36,

76

1     

8.

7     

69,

77

1     

13

.8      (47.3)

Interest and 

other non-

operating 

expense, net    

(1.

2)

 

 

(0.

9)

 

 

(1.

2)

 

 

(0.

6)

Interest income 

(expense), net

   

(6,

49

5)    

(1.

5)    

(4,

49

0)    

(0.

9)     44.7 

Other non-

operating 

income 

(expense)    

58

8     

0.

1     

(45

4)    

(0.

1)     (229.5)

Income before 

income taxes

    7.6 

 

 

11.

4 

 

  7.6 

 

 

11.

1     

30,

85

4     

7.

3     

64,

82

7     

12

.8      (52.4)

Income tax 

expense     1.9 

 

  2.9 

 

  1.9 

 

  2.9     

7,8

07     

1.

8     

16,

34

7     

3.

2      (52.2)

Net income

    5.7%

 

  8.5%

 

  5.7%

 

  8.2%   $

23,

04

7     

5.

5%   $

48,

48

0     

9.

6%     (52.5)%
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2021

 

Thirteen Weeks Ended July 1, 2023 Compared to Thirteen Weeks Ended July 2, 2022

Operating revenues. OperatingThe decrease in operating revenues for the thirteen weeks ended July 1, 2023was primarily

due to decreased $114.6 million, or 21.7%, to $412.6 million from $527.2 million for the thirteen weeks ended July 2,

2022.rates and volumes in our transactional transportation-related services. Included in operating revenues are

separately-identified fuel surcharges of $28.6 million $28.2 million for the thirteen weeks ended July 1, 2023September 30,

2023, compared to $46.1 million $46.8 million for the thirteen weeks ended July 2, 2022October 1, 2022. Consolidated

income from operations decreased $28.3 million, or 43.7%, to $36.4 million for the second quarter 2023 compared to $64.7

million during the same period last year. Second quarter 2022 results include a $3.0 million credit to insurance and claims

expense resulting from the favorable settlement of certain auto liability claims during the period as well as $9.7 million in

additional depreciation expense due to the revision of the useful life and salvage value of certain equipment.

In the contract logistics segment, which includes value-added and dedicated services, operating revenues increased $1.5

million, or 0.7%, to $208.8 million in the second quarter 2023 compared to $207.3 million in the previous year. Income from

operations in the contract logistics segment increased $3.4 million, or 11.4%, to $32.8 million for the thirteen weeks ended

July 1, 2023 compared to $29.4 million in the same period last year. In the second quarter of 2023, Universal managed 68

value-added programs compared to 64 in the prior year period. Included in dedicated transportation revenue for the

second quarter 2023 were $8.6 million in separately identified fuel surcharges, compared to $11.0 million in the same

period last year. As a percentage of revenue, operating margin in the contract logistics segment for the second quarter

2023 was 15.7% compared to 14.2% during the same period last year.

In the intermodal segment, operating revenues decreased $65.3 million, or 41.6%, to $91.6 million in the second quarter

2023 compared to $156.9 million in the previous year. Intermodal revenues for the thirteen weeks ended July 1, 2023

included $13.6 million in separately identified fuel surcharges, compared to $25.2 million in the same period last year.

During the second quarter 2023, Universal moved 112,925 intermodal loads compared to 145,916 in the second quarter

2022, a decrease of 22.6%, while its average operating revenue per load, excluding fuel surcharges decreased 15.3% to $590

from $696. Intermodal segment revenues also include accessorial charges such as detention, demurrage and storage,

which totaled $13.4 million during the second quarter 2023, compared to $33.6 million one year earlier. Income from

operations in the intermodal segment decreased $21.6 million to a loss of $(0.2) million for the thirteen weeks ended July 1,

2023 compared to operating income of $21.4 million in the second quarter 2022. As a percentage of revenue, operating

margin in the intermodal segment for the second quarter 2023 was (0.3)%, compared to 13.6% during the same period last

year.

In the trucking segment, operating revenues decreased $25.3 million, or 23.7%, to $81.2 million in the second quarter 2023

compared to $106.5 million in the prior year period. Included in trucking segment revenues for the second quarter 2023

were $6.4 million in separately identified fuel surcharges compared to $9.9 million during the second quarter 2022. Income
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from operations in the trucking segment decreased $5.2 million to $4.4 million for the second quarter 2023 compared to

$9.6 million in the same period last year. During the recently completed quarter, Universal’s average operating revenue per

load, excluding fuel surcharges, decreased 10.7% to $1,646 from $1,844 in the prior year period and load volumes

decreased 13.7% to 45,717 from 52,986. As a percentage of revenue, operating margin in the trucking segment for the

second quarter 2023 was 5.4%, compared to 9.0% during the same period last year. Included in the trucking segment’s

second quarter 2022 operating results was a $3.0 million credit related to a previously disclosed item, which favorably

impacted this segment’s operating margin by 280 basis points.

In the company-managed brokerage segment, operating revenues decreased $25.5 million, or 46.3%, to $29.6 million in the

thirteen weeks ending July 1, 2023 compared to $55.1 million in the thirteen weeks ending July 2, 2022. During the recently

completed quarter, the average operating revenue per load decreased 20.3% to $1,599 from $2,006 and load volumes fell

21.5% to 17,814 from 22,701. Second quarter 2023 operating losses in the company-managed brokerage segment were

$(0.8) million compared to $4.2 million of operating income during the same period last year. As a percentage of revenue,

operating margin for the company-managed brokerage segment was (2.7)% for the second quarter 2023 compared to 7.5%

in the same period last year.

Purchased transportation and equipment rent. Purchased transportation and equipment rental costs for the second quarter

2023 decreased $87.3 million, or 38.4%, to $139.9 million from $227.2 million during the same period last year. Purchased

transportation and equipment rent generally increases or decreases in proportion to the revenues generated through

owner-operators and other third party providers. The increases or decreases are generally correlated with changes in

demand for transactional transportation-related services, which includes truckload, brokerage, and intermodal services.

The absolute decrease in purchased transportation and equipment rental costs was primarily the result of an overall

decrease in transactional transportation-related services. Second Third quarter 2023 transactional transportation-related

service revenues decreased 36.3% 28.0% compared to the second third quarter of 2022. As a percentage of operating

revenues, purchased transportation and equipment rent expense decreased to 33.9% compared to 43.1% during the same

period last year due to a decrease in the mix of transactional transportation services revenue. As a percentage of total

revenues, transactional transportation services revenue decreased to 49.4% 50.6% for the second third quarter 2023

compared to 60.7% 58.6% in the same period last year.

21

Direct personnel and related benefits. Direct Trends in direct personnel and related benefits for the thirteen weeks ended

July 1, 2023 increased by $11.3 million, or 8.9%, to $138.0 million compared to $126.7 million during the same period last

year. Trends in these expensesbenefit costs are generally correlated with changes in operating facilities and headcount

requirements and, therefore, increase and decreasefluctuate correspondingly with the level of demand for our staffing

needs in our contract logistics segment, which includes value-added services and dedicated transportation, as well as the

use of employee drivers in certain of our intermodal operations. The increase in second the third quarter 2023 was

primarily due to an increase in the number of employee drivers in our California intermodal operations. As a percentage of

operating revenues, personnel and related benefits increased to 33.5% for the thirteen weeks ended July 1, 2023,

compared to 24.0% for the thirteen weeks ended July 2, 2022. The percentage is derived on an aggregate basis from both
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existing and new programs, and from customer operations at various stages in their lifecycles. Individual operations may

be impacted by additional production shifts or by overtime at selected operations. While generalizations about the impact

of personnel and related benefits costs as a percentage of total revenue are difficult, we manage compensation and

staffing levels, including the use of contract labor, to maintain target economics based on near-term projections of

demand for our services.

Operating supplies and expenses. Operating supplies and expenses decreased by $4.9 million, or 10.7%, to $41.1 million for

the thirteen weeks ended July 1, 2023 compared to $46.0 million for the thirteen weeks ended July 2, 2022. These expenses

include items such as fuel, maintenance, cost of materials, communications, utilities and other operating expenses, and

generally relate to fluctuations in customer demand. The main elementselement driving the change were decreases of $2.5

million was a decrease in fuel expense on company tractorsoperating supplies and $0.9 million material costs in

maintenance.operations supporting heavy-truck programs.

Commission expense. Commission expense for the second quarter 2023 decreased by $3.1 million, or 28.9%, to $7.6 million

from $10.8 million for the second quarter 2022. Commission expense decreased due to decreased  brokerage revenue in

our agency-based truckload business. As a percentage of operating revenues, commission expense was 1.9% compared to

2.0% for the second quarter 2022.business and decreased revenue from our intermodal agents.

Occupancy expense. Occupancy expenses increased by $1.0 million, or 10.4%, to $11.0 million for the thirteen weeks ended

July 1, 2023. This compares to $10.0 million for the thirteen weeks ended July 2, 2022. The increase in occupancy expense

was attributable to an increase in building rents and property taxes.

General and administrative. General and administrative expense remained consistent for both the thirteen weeks ended

July 1, 2023 increased by $1.3 million, or 10.6%, to $13.4 million from $12.1 million in the thirteen weeks ended July 2, 2022.

The increase was due to increases of $0.6 million in professional fees and $0.6 million in salaries, wages, and benefits. As a

percentage of operating revenues, general and administrative expense was 3.3% for the second third quarter 2023

compared to 2.3% for the second quarterand 2022.

Insurance and claims. Insurance and claims expense for the second quarter 2023 increased by $3.3 million to $5.9 million

from $2.6 million The increase in the second quarter 2022. As a percentage of operating revenues, insurance and claims

increased to 1.4% for the thirteen weeks ending July 1, 2023 compared to 0.5% for the second quarter 2022. Second quarter

2022 included a $3.0 million credit to insurance and claims expense resulting fromwas primarily due to a decrease in owner

operator insurance deductions primarily related to the favorable settlement conversion of certain auto liability claims

during the period.drivers in California to employees.

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation The increase in depreciation and amortization expense for the thirteen weeks

ended July 1, 2023 decreased by $7.9 million, or 29.2%, to $19.2 million resulted from $27.1 million for the second quarter

2022. Depreciation expense decreased $7.5 million and amortization expense decreased $0.4 million. During the second

quarter of 2022, Universal revised the estimated useful life and salvage value of certain equipment, and these adjustments

resulted an increase in additional depreciation expense of $9.7 million during the period.$4.7 million, which was partially

offset by a decrease in amortization expense of $0.4 million.
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Interest expense, net. Net interest expense was $5.1 million for the thirteen weeks ended July 1, 2023 compared to $3.9

million for the thirteen weeks ended July 2, 2022. The increase in net interest expense reflects an increase in interest rates

on our outstanding borrowings. As of July 1, 2023September 30, 2023, our outstanding borrowings totaled $382.0

million were $392.0 million compared to $417.3 million $393.7 million at the same time last year.October 1, 2022.

Other non-operating income (expense). OtherThe increase in other non-operating income was $0.3 million forprimarily the

second quarter 2023 compared to non-operating expenseresult of $0.8 million in the prior year period. Other non-

operating income for the second quarter 2023 includes a $0.1 million $0.5 million pre-tax holding gain on marketable

securities due to changes in fair value recognized in income compared to a $0.9 million pre-tax holding$0.5 million loss in

the previous year. third quarter 2022.

Income tax expense. IncomeOur effective income tax expense forrate was 25.3% in the second third quarter 2023 was $8.0

million, compared to $15.2 million for25.2% in the second third quarter 2022, based on an effective tax rate of 25.3% and

25.4%, respectively.2022. The decrease in income taxes in 2023 is  primarily the result of a decrease in taxable income and

our effective tax rate for the thirteen weeks ended July 1, 2023 compared to the thirteen weeks ended July 2, 2022. income.

22

 

Twenty-six Thirty-nine Weeks Ended July 1, 2023September 30, 2023 Compared to Twenty-six Thirty-nine Weeks Ended 

July 2, 2022October 1, 2022

The following table sets forth items derived from our consolidated statements of income for the thirty-nine weeks ended 

September 30, 2023 and October 1, 2022:

    Thirty-nine Weeks Ended  

   

September 30,


2023  

 

October 1,


2022  

  Percent 

Change in 

Dollar 

Amount  

(Dollars in millions)   $     %     $     %     %  

Operating revenues   $ 1,271,219      100.0%   $ 1,556,735      100.0%     (18.3)%

Operating expenses:                              

Purchased transportation and equipment rent     443,434      34.9      668,216      42.9      (33.6)

Direct personnel and related benefits     412,004      32.4      389,966      25.1      5.7 

Operating supplies and expenses     130,351      10.3      132,886      8.5      (1.9)

Commission expense     24,149      1.9      31,412      2.0      (23.1)

Occupancy expense     33,106      2.6      30,345      1.9      9.1 

General and administrative     38,967      3.1      36,382      2.3      7.1 
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Insurance and claims     20,795      1.6      16,925      1.1      22.9 

Depreciation and amortization     57,061      4.5      58,333      3.7      (2.2)

Total operating expenses     1,159,867      91.2      1,364,465      87.6      (15.0)

Income from operations     111,352      8.8      192,270      12.4      (42.1)

Interest income (expense), net     (16,590)     (1.3)     (10,842)     (0.7)     53.0 

Other non-operating income (expense)     885      0.1      (324)     (0.1)     (373.1)

Income before income taxes     95,647      7.6      181,104      11.6      (47.2)

Income tax expense     24,159      2.0      45,917      2.9      (47.4)

Net income   $ 71,488      5.6%   $ 135,187      8.7%     (47.1)%

Operating revenues. OperatingThe decrease in operating revenues for the twenty-six weeks ended July 1, 2023was primarily

due to decreased $201.1 million, or 19.1%, to $850.0 million from $1,051.0 million for the twenty-six weeks ended July 2,

2022.rates and volumes in our transactional transportation-related services. Included in operating revenues are

separately-identified fuel surcharges of $62.6 million $90.7 million for the twenty-six thirty-nine weeks ended July 1,

2023September 30, 2023, compared to $80.7 million $127.5 million for the twenty-six thirty-nine weeks ended July 2,

2022October 1, 2022. Consolidated income from operations decreased $47.9 million, or 39.1%, to $74.6 million Results for

the first half of 2023 compared to $122.5 million during the same period last year. First half 2023 operating results were

negatively impacted by a $1.2 million pre-tax charge for settlement of an auto liability claim in excess of policy limits. First

half 2022 results thirty-nine weeks ending October 1, 2022 include a $3.0 million credit to insurance and claims expense

resulting from the favorable settlement of certain auto liability claims during the period as well as $9.7 million in additional

depreciation expense due to the revision of the useful life and salvage value of certain equipment.

In the contract logistics segment, which includes value-added and dedicated services, operating revenues increased $11.2

million, or 2.7%, to $420.1 million in the first half of 2023 compared to $408.9 million in the previous year. Income from operations

in the contract logistics segment increased $7.7 million, or 14.5%, to $60.6 million for the twenty-six weeks ended July 1, 2023

compared to $52.9 million in the same period last year. In the first half of 2023, Universal managed 68 value-added programs

compared to 64 in the prior year period. Included in dedicated transportation revenue for the first half of 2023 were $18.3 million

in separately identified fuel surcharges, compared to $19.8 million in the same period last year. As a percentage of revenue,

operating margin in the contract logistics segment for the first half of 2023 was 14.4% compared to 12.9% during the same period

last year.

In the intermodal segment, operating revenues decreased $111.9 million, or 35.6%, to $202.6 million in the first half of 2023

compared to $314.5 million in the previous year. Intermodal revenues for the twenty-six weeks ended July 1, 2023 included

$30.7 million in separately identified fuel surcharges, compared to $43.5 million in the same period last year. During the

first half of 2023, Universal moved 235,224 intermodal loads compared to 300,123 in the first half of 2022, a decrease of

21.6%, while its average operating revenue per load, excluding fuel surcharges decreased 17.0% to $578 from $697.

Intermodal segment revenues also include accessorial charges such as detention, demurrage and storage, which totaled

$39.4 million during the first half of 2023, compared to $69.8 million one year earlier. Income from operations in the

intermodal segment decreased $37.8 million to $6.6 million for the twenty-six weeks ended July 1, 2023 compared to $44.4
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million in the first half of 2022. As a percentage of revenue, operating margin in the intermodal segment for the first half of

2023 was 3.2%, compared to 14.1% during the same period last year.

In the trucking segment, operating revenues decreased $43.1 million, or 21.1%, to $161.0 million in the first half of 2023

compared to $204.0 million in the prior year period. Included in trucking segment revenues for the first half of 2023 were

$13.5 million in separately identified fuel surcharges compared to $17.5 million during the first half of 2022. Income from

operations in the trucking segment decreased $8.8 million to $8.2 million for the first half of 2023 compared to $17.0 million

in the same period last year. During the first half of 2023, Universal’s average operating revenue per load, excluding fuel

surcharges, decreased 9.8% to $1,627 from $1,804 in the prior year period and load volumes decreased 12.8% to 90,572

from 103,846. As a percentage of revenue, operating margin in the trucking segment for the first half of 2023 was 5.1%,

compared to 8.3% during the same period last year. Included in the trucking segment’s first half 2022 operating results was

a $3.0 million credit related to a previously disclosed item, which favorably impacted this segment’s operating margin by

150 basis points.

In the company-managed brokerage segment, operating revenues decreased $56.8 million, or 47.2%, to $63.6 million in the

twenty-six weeks ending July 1, 2023 compared to $120.3 million in the twenty-six weeks ending July 2, 2022. During the first

half of 2023, the average operating revenue per load decreased 21.2% to $1,650 from $2,094 and load volumes fell 20.2% to

37,770 from 47,311. First half 2023 operating losses in the company-managed brokerage segment were $(1.2) million

compared to $8.0 million of operating income during the same period last year. As a percentage of revenue, operating

margin for the company-managed brokerage segment was (1.8)% for the first half of 2023 compared to 6.7% in the same

period last year. First half 2023 operating results were negatively impacted by a $1.2 million pre-tax charge for settlement

of an auto liability claim in excess of policy limits.

Purchased transportation and equipment rent. Purchased transportation and equipment rental costs for the first half of

2023 decreased $163.4 million, or 35.6%, to $296.0 million from $459.3 million during the same period last year. Purchased

transportation and equipment rent generally increases or decreases in proportion to the revenues generated through

owner-operators and other third party providers. The increases or decreases are generally correlated with changes in

demand for transactional transportation-related services, which includes truckload, brokerage, and intermodal services.

The absolute decrease in purchased transportation and equipment rental costs was primarily the result of an overall

decrease in transactional transportation-related services. First half 2023For the thirty-nine weeks ended September 30,

2023, transactional transportation-related service revenues decreased 33.1% 31.5% compared to the first half of 2022. As a

percentage of operating revenues, purchased transportation and equipment rent expense decreased to 34.8% compared

to 43.7% during the same period last prior year due to a decrease in the mix of transactional transportation services

revenue.period. As a percentage of total revenues, transactional transportation services revenue decreased to 50.6% for

the first half of 2023thirty-nine weeks ended September 30, 2023, compared to 61.1% 60.3% in the same period last year.

23

Direct personnel and related benefits. Direct Trends in direct personnel and related benefits for the twenty-six weeks ended

July 1, 2023 increased by $14.3 million, or 5.4%, to $277.1 million compared to $262.8 million during the same period last

year. Trends in these expensesbenefit costs are generally correlated with changes in operating facilities and headcount
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requirements and, therefore, increase and decreasefluctuate correspondingly with the level of demand for our staffing

needs in our contract logistics segment, which includes value-added services and dedicated transportation, as well as the

use of employee drivers in certain of our intermodal operations. The increase in the first half of 2023thirty-nine weeks

ended September 30, 2023, was primarily due to an increase in the number of employee drivers in our California

intermodal operations. As a percentage of operating revenues, personnel and related benefits increased to 32.6% for the

twenty-six weeks ended July 1, 2023, compared to 25.0% for the twenty-six weeks ended July 2, 2022. The percentage is

derived on an aggregate basis from both existing and new programs, and from customer operations at various stages in

their lifecycles. Individual operations may be impacted by additional production shifts or by overtime at selected

operations. While generalizations about the impact of personnel and related benefits costs as a percentage of total

revenue are difficult, we manage compensation and staffing levels, including the use of contract labor, to maintain target

economics based on near-term projections of demand for our services.

Operating supplies and expenses. Operating supplies and expenses decreased by $0.9 million, or 1.0%, to $87.3 million for

the twenty-six weeks ended July 1, 2023 compared to $88.2 million for the twenty-six weeks ended July 2, 2022. These

expenses include items such as fuel, maintenance, cost of materials, communications, utilities and other operating

expenses, and they generally relate to fluctuations in customer demand. The main element driving the change were

decreaseswas a decrease of $4.9 million $4.7 million in professional fees and $0.6 million in permits. fees. This was partially

offset by increases of $1.9 million a $2.1 million increase in maintenance, $1.6 million in operating suppliesvehicle and

material costs in operations supporting heavy-truck programs, and $1.2 million of fewer gains on sales of property and

equipment.other maintenance.

Commission expense. Commission expense for the first half of 2023 decreased by $5.0 million, or 23.9%, to $15.8 million

from $20.8 million for the first half of 2022. Commission expense decreased due to decreased revenue in our agency-based

truckload business. As a percentage of operating revenues, commission expense was 1.9% compared to 2.0% for the first

half of 2022.business and decreased revenue from our intermodal agents.

Occupancy expense. Occupancy expenses increased by $2.0 million, or 9.9%, to $22.2 million for the twenty-six weeks ended

July 1, 2023. This compares to $20.2 million for the twenty-six weeks ended July 2, 2022. The increase in occupancy expense

was attributable to an increase in building rents and property taxes.

General and administrative. General and administrative expense for the twenty-six weeks ended July 1, 2023 increased by

$2.6 million, or 11.3%, to $25.3 million from $22.8 million The increase in the twenty-six weeks ended July 2, 2022. The

change included increases of $0.9 million in professional fees and $0.8 million in salaries, wages, and benefits. As a

percentage of operating revenues, general and administrative expense was 3.0% for the first half of 2023

compared primarily due to 2.2% for the first half of 2022.an increase in professional fees.

23

Insurance and claims. InsuranceThe increase in insurance and claims expense forwas primarily due to a decrease in owner

operator insurance deductions primarily related to the first halfconversion of 2023 increased by $2.8 million drivers in

California to $14.0 million from $11.2 million in the first half of 2022. As a percentage of operating revenues,
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insuranceemployees and claims increased to 1.6% for the twenty-six weeks ending July 1, 2023 compared to 1.1% for the

first half of 2022. First half 2023 included a $1.2 million settlement of an auto liability claim in excess of policy limits. First

half 2022 included a $3.0 million credit to insurance and claims expense resulting from the favorable settlement of certain

auto liability claims during the period.thirty-nine weeks ended October 1, 2022.

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation The decrease in depreciation and amortization expense forresulted from a $0.1

million decrease in depreciation expense and a $1.1 million decrease in amortization expense. During the twenty-six thirty-

nine weeks ended July 1, 2023 decreased by $5.6 million October 1, 2022, or 13.0%, to $37.7 million from $43.3 million for the

first half of 2022. Depreciation expense decreased $4.8 million and amortization expense decreased $0.8 million. During the

first half of 2022, Universal revised the estimated useful life and salvage value of certain equipment, and these adjustments

resulted in additional depreciation expense of $9.7 million during the period.

Interest expense, net. Net interest expense was $10.1 million for the twenty-six weeks ended July 1, 2023 compared to $6.4

million for the twenty-six weeks ended July 2, 2022. The increase in net interest expense reflects an increase in interest

rates on our outstanding borrowings. As of July 1, 2023September 30, 2023, our outstanding borrowings totaled $382.0

million were $392.0 million compared to $417.3 million $393.7 million at the same time last year.October 1, 2022.

Other non-operating income (expense). OtherThe increase in other non-operating income was $0.3 million forprimarily the

first halfresult of 2023 compared to $0.1 million in the prior year period. Other non-operating income for the first half of

2023 includes a $0.1 million $0.7 million pre-tax holding gain on marketable securities due to changes in fair value

recognized in income unchanged fromcompared to a $0.4 million loss during the prior year period.same period last year.

Income tax expense. IncomeOur effective income tax expense forrate was 25.3% in the first half of 2023 was $16.4

million thirty-nine weeks ended September 30, 2023, compared to $29.6 million for25.4% in the first half of 2022, based on

an effective tax rate of 25.2% and 25.4%, respectively.same period last year. The decrease in income taxes is primarily the

result of a decrease in taxable incomeincome.

Segment Financial Results

We report our financial results in four distinct reportable segments: contract logistics, intermodal, trucking, and company-

managed brokerage, which are based primarily on the services each segment provides. This presentation reflects the

manner in which management evaluates our effective tax rateoperating segments, including an evaluation of economic

characteristics and applicable aggregation criteria.

The following tables summarize information about our reportable segments for the twenty-six weeksthirteen week and

thirty-nine week periods ended July 1, 2023September 30, 2023 and October 1, 2022 (in thousands):

    Operating Revenues  

    Thirteen Weeks Ended     Thirty-nine Weeks Ended  

   

September 

30,

2023    

October 1,

2022    

September 

30,

2023    

October 1,

2022  

Contract logistics   $ 208,129    $ 209,507    $ 628,228    $ 618,426 
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Intermodal     86,630      154,391      289,241      468,869 

Trucking     97,085      99,619      258,043      303,649 

Company-managed brokerage     28,102      40,615      91,652      160,940 

Other     1,305      1,560      4,055      4,851 

Total operating revenues   $ 421,251    $ 505,692    $ 1,271,219    $ 1,556,735 

    Income from Operations  

    Thirteen Weeks Ended     Thirty-nine Weeks Ended  

   

September 

30,

2023    

October 1,

2022    

September 

30,

2023    

October 1,

2022  

Contract logistics   $ 35,103    $ 35,400    $ 95,673    $ 88,300 

Intermodal     (4,324)     28,148      2,241      72,526 

Trucking     6,558      4,791      14,770      21,821 

Company-managed brokerage     (1,070)     1,079      (2,230)     9,097 

Other     494      353      898      526 

Total income from operations   $ 36,761    $ 69,771    $ 111,352    $ 192,270 

Thirteen Weeks Ended September 30, 2023 Compared to Thirteen Weeks Ended October 1, 2022

In the contract logistics segment, which includes our value-added and dedicated services, third quarter 2023 operating

revenues decreased 0.7%. At the end of the third quarter 2023, we managed 73 value-added programs compared to 63 at

the twenty-six weeks ended July 2, 2022.end of the third quarter 2022. Included in contract logistics segment revenues

were $9.1 million in separately identified fuel surcharges from dedicated transportation services, compared to $11.3 million

during the same period last year. Third quarter 2023 income from operations decreased $0.3 million and operating margin,

as a percentage of revenue, was 16.9% for both the third quarters 2023 and 2022.

24

 

Operating revenues in the intermodal segment decreased 43.9% primarily due to decreases in the average revenue per

load, excluding fuel surcharges and in the number of loads hauled. Included in intermodal segment revenues for the

recently completed quarter were $12.7 million in separately identified fuel surcharges, compared to $26.4 million during

the same period last year. Intermodal segment revenues also include other accessorial charges such as detention,

demurrage and storage, which totaled $9.9 million during the third quarter 2023, compared to $31.3 million one year

earlier. The average operating revenue per load, excluding fuel surcharges, decreased 24.7% and load volumes fell an

additional 11.8% on a year-over-year basis. As a percentage of revenue, operating margin in the intermodal segment for

the third quarter 2023 was (5.0)%, compared to 18.2% one year earlier.
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In the trucking segment, third quarter 2023 operating revenues decreased 2.5% primarily due to a decrease in the number

of loads hauled, partially offset by an increase in the average operating revenue per load, excluding fuel surcharges. Third

quarter 2023 trucking segment revenues included $28.8 million of brokerage services, compared to $43.1 million during the

same period last year. Also included in our trucking segment revenues were $6.3 million in separately identified fuel

surcharges during the third quarter 2023, compared to $9.1 million in fuel surcharges during the same period last year. On

a year-over-year basis, the average operating revenue per load, excluding fuel surcharges, increased 13.3% while load

volumes declined 13.1%. As a percentage of revenue, operating margin in the trucking segment for the third quarter 2023

was 6.8% compared to 4.8% during the same period last year.

Third quarter 2023 operating revenues in the company-managed brokerage segment decreased 30.8% primarily due to

decreases in the average operating revenue per load and in the number of loads hauled. On a year-over-year basis,

average operating revenue per load and load volumes in the company-managed brokerage segment decreased 11.1% and

12.3%, respectively. As a percentage of revenue, operating margin for the third quarter 2023 was (3.8)% compared to 2.7%

during the same period last year.

Thirty-nine Weeks Ended September 30, 2023 Compared to Thirty-nine Weeks Ended October 1, 2022

In the contract logistics segment, which includes our value-added and dedicated services, operating revenues increased

1.6%. At the end of the third quarter 2023, we managed 73 value-added programs compared to 63 at the end of the third

quarter 2022. Included in contract logistics segment revenues for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 30, 2023, were

$27.4 million in separately identified fuel surcharges from dedicated transportation services, compared to $31.1 million

during the same period last year. Income from operations increased $7.4 million and operating margin, as a percentage of

revenue was 15.2% for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 30, 2023, compared to 14.3% in the same period last year.

Operating revenues in the intermodal segment decreased 38.3% primarily due to decreases in the average revenue per

load, excluding fuel surcharges and in the number of loads hauled. Included in intermodal segment revenues for thirty-

nine weeks ended September 30, 2023, were $43.4 million in separately identified fuel surcharges, compared to $69.8

million during the same period last year. Intermodal segment revenues also include other accessorial charges such as

detention, demurrage and storage, which totaled $49.4 million during the thirty-nine weeks ended September 30, 2023,

compared to $101.1 million one year earlier. The average operating revenue per load, excluding fuel surcharges, decreased

19.7% and load volumes fell an additional 18.6% on a year-over-year basis. As a percentage of revenue, operating margin in

the intermodal segment for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 30, 2023, was 0.8%, compared to 15.5% one year

earlier.

In the trucking segment, operating revenues decreased 15.0% primarily due to decreases in the average revenue per load,

excluding fuel surcharges and in the number of loads hauled. Trucking segment revenues included $94.2 million of

brokerage services, compared to $131.8 million during the same period last year. Also included in our trucking segment

revenues were $19.9 million in separately identified fuel surcharges during the thirty-nine weeks ended September 30,

2023, compared to $26.5 million in fuel surcharges during the same period last year. On a year-over-year basis, the average

operating revenue per load, excluding fuel surcharges, decreased 2.2% while load volumes declined 12.9%. As a percentage
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of revenue, operating margin in the trucking segment for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 30, 2023, was 5.7%

compared to 7.2% during the same period last year.

Operating revenues in the company-managed brokerage segment decreased 43.1% primarily due to decreases in the

average operating revenue per load and in the number of loads hauled. On a year-over-year basis, average operating

revenue per load and load volumes in the company-managed brokerage segment decreased 18.7% and 17.7%,

respectively. As a percentage of revenue, operating margin for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 30, 2023, was (2.4)%

compared to 5.7% during the same period last year.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of liquidity are funds generated by operations, loans and extensions of credit under our credit

facilities, on margin against our marketable securities and from installment notes, and proceeds from the sales of

marketable securities. We use secured asset lending to fund a substantial portion of purchases of tractors, trailers and

material handling equipment.

25

We employ a flexible operating strategy which we believe lowers our capital expenditure requirements. In general, our

facilities used in our value-added services are leased on terms that are either substantially matched to our customer’s

contracts, are month-to-month or are provided to us by our customers. We also utilize owner-operators and third-party

carriers to provide a significant portion of our transportation and specialized services. A significant portion of the tractors

and trailers used in our business are provided by our owner-operators. In addition, our use of agents reduces our overall

need for large terminals. As a result, our capital expenditure requirements are limited in comparison to most large

transportation and logistics service providers, which maintain significant properties and sizable fleets of owned tractors

and trailers.

During the twenty-six thirty-nine weeks ended July 1, 2023September 30, 2023, our capital expenditures totaled $79.8

million $192.1 million. These expenditures primarily consisted of transportation equipment, and investments in support of

our value-added service operations.operations, and the expansion of our terminal network including the $80.0 million

purchase of a terminal in Compton, Los Angeles County, California. Our flexible business model depends somewhat on the

customized solutions we implement for specific customers. As a result, our capital expenditures will depend on specific

new contracts and the overall age and condition of our owned transportation equipment. Due to shortages, production

backlogs, and limited availability of transportation equipment in recent years, as well as the acquisition of strategic real

estate, our expenditures are projected to be somewhat higher than the customary range of 4% to 5% of our operating

revenues. For the full year 2023, exclusive of acquisitions of businesses, we expect our capital expenditures to be in the

range of $235 million, consisting of $110 million for capital equipment and $125 million for purchases of strategic real

estate. . We expect to make these capital expenditures for the acquisition of transportation equipment, to support our

new and existing value-added service operations, to expand our owned terminal network, and for improvements to our

existing terminal yard and container facilities.
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On July 7, 2023, the Company closed on the purchase of a terminal in Compton, Los Angeles County, California. The

purchase price was $80.0 million. The Company previously made a deposit of $1.0 million and used a combination of

available cash on hand and funds borrowed under its existing line of credit to fund the balance at closing.

We have a cash dividend policy that anticipates a regular dividend of $0.42 per share of common stock, payable in

quarterly increments of $0.105 per share of common stock. After considering the regular quarterly dividends made during

the year, the Board of Directors also evaluates the potential declaration of an annual special dividend payable in the first

quarter of each year. The Board of Directors did not declare a special dividend in the first quarter of 2023. On July 27,

2023October 26, 2023, our Board of Directors did declaredeclared the regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.105 per share

of common stock payable October 2, 2023on January 2, 2024 to shareholders of record at the close of business on

September 4, 2023December 4, 2023. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we paid a total of $0.42 per common

share, or $11.1 million. Future dividend policy and the payment of dividends, if any, will be determined by the Board of

Directors in light of circumstances then existing, including our earnings, financial condition and other factors deemed

relevant by the Board of Directors.

We continually evaluate our liquidity requirements and capital structure in light of our operating needs, growth initiatives

and capital resources. The availability of financing or equity capital will depend upon our financial condition and results of

operations as well as prevailing market conditions. If such additional borrowing, lease financing, or equity capital is not

available at the time we need it, then we may need to borrow more under the Revolving Credit Facility (if not then fully

drawn), extend the maturity of then-outstanding debt, or rely on alternative financing arrangements. There can be no

assurance that we will be able to obtain additional debt under our existing financial arrangements to satisfy our ongoing

capital requirements. However, we believe that our existing liquidity and sources of capital are sufficient to support our

operations over the next 12 months.

We also continually evaluate business development opportunities, including potential acquisitions that fit our strategic

plans. There can be no assurance that we will identify any opportunities that fit our strategic plans or will be able to

execute any such opportunities on terms acceptable to us. Depending on prospective consideration to be paid for an

acquisition, any such opportunities would be financed first from available cash and cash equivalents and availability of

borrowings under our credit facilities.

Revolving Credit, Promissory Notes and Term Loan Agreements

Our revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) provides for a $400 million revolver at a variable rate of interest

based on index-adjusted SOFR or a base rate and matures on September 30, 2027. The Revolving Credit Facility, which is

secured by cash, deposits, accounts receivable, and selected other assets of the applicable borrowers, includes customary

affirmative and negative covenants and events of default, as well as financial covenants requiring minimum fixed charge

coverage and leverage ratios, and customary mandatory prepayments provisions. Our Revolving Credit Facility includes an

accordion feature which allows us to increase availability by up to $200 million upon our request. At July 1, 2023September

30, 2023, we were in compliance with all its covenants, and $400.0 million $378.9 million was available for borrowing.

25
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Our UACL Credit and Security Agreement (the “UACL Credit Agreement”) provides for maximum borrowings of $90 million

in the form of an $80 million term loan and a $10 million revolver at a variable rate of interest based on index-adjusted

SOFR or a base rate and matures on September 30, 2027. The UACL Credit Agreement, which is secured by cash, deposits,

accounts receivable, and selected other assets of the applicable borrowers, includes customary affirmative and negative

covenants and events of default, as well as financial covenants requiring minimum fixed charge coverage and leverage

ratios, and customary mandatory prepayments provisions. Our UACL Credit Agreement includes an accordion feature

which allows us to increase availability by up to $30 million upon our request. At July 1, 2023September 30, 2023, $10.0

million was available for borrowing on the revolver, and the borrowerswe were in compliance with all its covenants, under

the facility, provided that compliance with the fixed charge coverage ratio required application of a $2 million equity cure

by Universal Logistics Holdings, Inc. as permitted by the agreement. After giving effect to application of net cash proceeds

comprising the cure amount and recalculation of the financial covenant, the borrowers were in compliance with the fixed

charge coverage ratio at July 1, 2023.$5.0 million was available for borrowing.

A wholly owned subsidiary issued a series of promissory notes in order to finance transportation equipment (the

“Equipment Financing”). The notes issued in connection with the Equipment Financing, which are secured by liens on

specific titled vehicles, are generally payable in 60 monthly installments and bear interest at fixed rates ranging from 2.25%

to 7.27%.

26

Certain wholly owned subsidiaries entered into a $165.4 million term loan facility to repay outstanding balances under a

then-existing term loan and certain other real estate notes (the “Real Estate Facility”). The Real Estate Facility matures on

April 29, 2032 and is secured by first-priority mortgages on specific parcels of real estate owned by the Company, including

all land and real property improvements, and first-priority assignments of rents and related leases of the loan parties. The

Real Estate Facility includes customary affirmative and negative covenants, and principal and interest is payable on the

facility on a monthly basis, based on an annual amortization of 10%. The facility bears interest at Term SOFR, plus an

applicable margin equal to 2.12%. At July 1, 2023September 30, 2023, we were in compliance with all covenants under the

facility.

We also maintain a short-term line of credit secured by our portfolio of marketable securities (the “Margin Facility”). It

bears interest at Term SOFR plus 1.10%. The amount available under the Margin Facility is based on a percentage of the

market value of the underlying securities. We did not have any amounts advanced against the line as of July 1,

2023September 30, 2023, and the maximum available borrowings were $5.2 million $5.0 million.

Any failure to comply with any material provision or covenant of the Revolving Credit Facility, UACL Credit Agreement,

Equipment Financing, Real Estate Facility, Margin Facility, or other agreements governing our financing arrangements in

the future could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity and operations.

Discussion of Cash Flows

At July 1, 2023September 30, 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents of $65.0 million $16.8 million compared to $47.2

million at December 31, 2022. Operating activities provided $105.0 million $161.2 million in net cash, and we used $77.2
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million $188.6 million in investing activities and $6.4 million $0.3 million in financing activities.

The $105.0 million $161.2 million in net cash provided by operations was primarily attributed to $48.4 million $71.5 million

of net income, which reflects non-cash depreciation and amortization, noncash lease expense, gains on marketable equity

securities and equipment sales, amortization of debt issuance costs, stock-based compensation, and provisions for credit

losses totaling $56.0 million $83.0 million, net. Net cash provided by operating activities also reflects an aggregate decrease

in net working capital totaling $0.5 million $6.8 million. The primary drivers behind the decrease in working capital was a

decrease in trade and other accounts receivables, and an increaseincreases in accruals for insuranceaccrued expenses and

claims.other current liabilities and income taxes payable. These were partially offset by principal reductions in operating

lease liabilities during the period, an increase in prepaid expenses and other assets, and decreases in trade accounts

payable accrued expenses and other current liabilities, income taxes payable and other long-term liabilities. Affiliate

transactions increased decreased net cash provided by operating activities by $5.5 million $6.7 million. The

increasedecrease resulted from a $6.6 million increase$5.8 million decrease in accounts payable to affiliates partially offset

by and a $1.1 million $0.9 million increase in accounts receivable from affiliates.

The $77.2 million $188.6 million in net cash used in investing activities consisted of $79.8 million $192.1 million in capital

expenditures, which was partially offset by $2.5 million $3.3 million in proceeds from the sale of equipment and $0.1

million $0.2 million in proceeds from the sale of marketable securities.

We used $6.4 million $0.3 million in financing activities during the twenty-six thirty-nine weeks ended July 1,

2023September 30, 2023. During the period, we paid cash dividends of $8.3 million, $0.9 million in capitalized financing

costs and $0.1 million for purchases of common stock. We had outstanding borrowings totaling $382.0 million $392.0

million at July 1, 2023September 30, 2023 compared to $382.9 million at December 31, 2022. During the period, we made

payments on our term loan and equipment and real estate notes totaling $34.6 million $56.0 million, and we borrowed

$33.7 million $39.0 million for new equipment. During the period, we also paid cash dividendsequipment and had net

borrowings on our revolving lines of $5.5 million credit totaling $26.1 million.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

None.

26

Critical Accounting Policies

A summary of critical accounting policies is presented in Item 7, "Management's “Management's Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Critical Accounting Policies," ” of our Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31, 2022. There have been no changes in our accounting policies during the thirteen weeks ended July 1,

2023September 30, 2023.

Seasonality
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Generally, demand for our value-added services delivered to existing customers increases during the second calendar

quarter of each year as a result of the automotive industry’s spring selling season. Conversely, such demand generally

decreases during the third quarter of each year due to the impact of scheduled OEM customer plant shutdowns in July for

vacations and changeovers in production lines for new model years.

Our value-added services business is also impacted in the fourth quarter by plant shutdowns during the December holiday

period. Prolonged adverse weather conditions, particularly in winter months, can also adversely impact margins due to

productivity declines and related challenges meeting customer service requirements.

27

Additionally, our transportation services business, excluding dedicated transportation tied to specific customer supply

chains, is generally impacted by decreased activity during the post-holiday winter season and, in certain states during

hurricane season, because some shippers reduce their shipments and inclement weather impedes trucking operations or

underlying customer demand.

ITEM 3: QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

There have not been any material changes to the Company’s market risk during the thirteen weeks ended July 1,

2023September 30, 2023. For additional information, please see the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31, 2022.

ITEM 4: CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief

Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and

procedures pursuant to paragraph (b) of Rule 13a-15 or 15d-15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (or the

Exchange Act). Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of July

1, 2023September 30, 2023, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective in causing the material information

required to be disclosed in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act (i) to be recorded, processed,

summarized and reported, to the extent applicable, within the time periods required for us to meet the Securities and

Exchange Commission’s (or SEC) filing deadlines for these reports specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and (ii) to be

accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as

appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Internal Controls

There have been no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting during the thirteen weeks ended July 1,

2023September 30, 2023 identified in connection with our evaluation that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely

to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.

2728
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PART II – OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1: LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For information regarding legal proceedings, see Note 13 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

set forth in Part I of this report.

ITEM 1A: RISK FACTORS

ThereExcept as noted below, there have been no material changes to our risk factors as previously disclosed in Item 1A to

Part 1 of our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022.

Risks Related to Our Business

A significant labor dispute that involves one of our customers or that could otherwise affect our operations could

reduce our revenues and harm our profitability.

Our largest customers employ a substantial number of workers who are members of industrial trade unions, and their

employment is subject to the terms of collective bargaining agreements. The United Auto Workers started a trilateral strike

against Ford, General Motors, and Stellantis on September 15, 2023. Although the UAW has reached tentative agreements

with Ford, General Motors, and Stellantis, if the UAW workers employed by each of these customers fail to timely ratify the

applicable labor agreements and the union members remain on strike, our revenue and profitability could be negatively

impacted. A labor dispute involving another supplier to our customers that results in a slowdown or closure of our

customers’ plants where we provide services could also have a material adverse effect on our business.

Significant increases in labor costs as a result of the renegotiation of our collective bargaining agreements could be

harmful to our business and our profitability.

As of September 30, 2023, approximately 32% of our employees were members of unions and subject to collective

bargaining agreements. Subject to a few exceptions, each of our unionized facilities has a separate agreement with the

union that generally represents the workers at only that facility. Any work stoppages or slowdowns by our employees

could affect our ability to meet our customers’ needs, and customers may do more business with our competitors if they

believe that such actions may adversely affect our ability to provide our services. We may face the permanent loss of

customers if we are unable to provide uninterrupted services. The terms of our future collective bargaining agreements

may also affect our competitive position and results of operations.

The conflict in the Middle East, or expansion of the conflict to other areas or countries, or similar conflicts in the region

could adversely impact our business and financial results.

We do not have any direct operations in Israel, Egypt, Jordan, Lebanon, Syria, the West Bank or Gaza, but we may be

affected by the broader consequences of the conflict in the Middle East. The potential implications include increased

inflation, supply chain disruption, reduced access to parts for our revenue equipment, embargoes, geopolitical shifts,

reduced access to diesel fuel, higher energy prices, and other effects on the global economy. The magnitude of these risks
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cannot be predicted, including the extent to which the conflicts may heighten other risk factors. Ultimately, these factors

could materially and adversely affect the results of our operations.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our public shareholders may have limited influence over our significant corporate actions.

Matthew T. Moroun, the Chairman of our Board of Directors, is the trustee of certain family trusts that collectively own

greater than 50% of our outstanding shares. In this capacity, Mr. Moroun holds investment power over the shares in the

family trusts. Frederick P. Calderone, a member of our Board of Directors, is the special trustee of the family trusts and, in

that capacity, he exercises voting authority over the shares in the family trusts. The special trustee serves at the discretion

of the trustee of the trusts, and members of the Moroun family are the beneficiaries of the trusts. Votes cast on behalf of

the family trusts control any action requiring the general approval of our shareholders, including the election of our board

of directors, the adoption of amendments to our articles of incorporation and bylaws, and the approval of any merger or

sale of substantially all of our assets. This concentration of ownership could also limit the price that some investors might

be willing to pay for shares of our common stock.

29

The interests of our controlling shareholders may conflict with those of the Company and our other shareholders.

The interests of the Moroun family trusts could conflict with the interests of Universal or our other shareholders. For

example, the concentration of ownership in the trusts could delay, defer, or prevent a change of control of the Company

that may otherwise be favorable to the Company and our other shareholders. The votes cast on behalf of the family trusts

could also result in our entry into transactions or agreements that our other shareholders do not approve. Our controlling

shareholders might also refrain from voting in favor of a transaction that would result in our other shareholders receiving

consideration for our common stock that is much higher than its then-current market price. Any such decisions that may

be made in the future by our controlling shareholders will be in their absolute discretion, subject to applicable laws and

fiduciary duties.

Because we are a “controlled company” under NASDAQ rules, we are not subject to certain corporate governance

standards that apply to other publicly traded companies.

The NASDAQ rules state that a controlled company is one in which more than 50% of the voting power is held by another

person or group of persons acting together. A controlled company may elect not to comply with certain corporate

governance requirements, including:

• a majority of the board of directors consist of independent directors;

• a nominating and corporate governance committee composed entirely of independent directors with a wri
charter addressing the committee’s purpose and responsibilities; and

• the compensation committee be composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing
committee’s purpose and responsibilities.
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We are a controlled company under these rules, and these requirements will not apply to us as long as we retain that

status. Accordingly, you may not have the same protections afforded to shareholders of companies that are subject to all

of the corporate governance requirements of NASDAQ.

ITEM 2: UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

None.

ITEM 3: DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

ITEM 4: MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

ITEM 5: OTHER INFORMATION

Trading Arrangements

None of the Company’s directors or officers adopted, modified or terminated a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement or a non-

Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement during the Company’s fiscal quarter ended July 1, 2023September 30, 2023, as such terms

are defined under Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.

2830

Share Purchases

Fiscal Period  

Total Number 

of Shares 

Purchased    

Average Price 

Paid per Share    

Total Number of 

Shares 

Purchased as 

Part of Publicly 

Announced 

Program    

Maximum 

Number of 

Shares that May 

Yet be Purchased 

Under the Plans 

or Program (1)  

July 2, 2023 - July 29, 2023     —   $ —      —      513,251 

July 30, 2023 - August 26, 2023     3,750  (2) $ 32.24      —      513,251 

August 27, 2023 - September 30, 

2023

 

  471  (3) $ 27.10      —      513,251 

Total     4,221   $ 31.67      —      513,251 

                         

(1) On July 29, 2021, the Company announced that it had been authorized to purchase up to 1,000,000 shares of its

common stock from time to time in the open market. As of September 30, 2023, 513,251 shares remain available under this

authorization. No specific expiration date has been assigned to the authorization.
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(2) Consists of 3,750 shares of common stock acquired on August 11, 2023 by the Company from a director for $120,900

upon exercising its right of first refusal pursuant to a restricted stock bonus award agreement.

(3) Consists of 471 shares of common stock acquired on September 1, 2023 by the Company from an employee for $12,764

upon exercising its right of first refusal pursuant to a restricted stock bonus award agreement.
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ITEM 6: EXHIBITS

The exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index are furnished as part of this quarterly report on Form 10-Q.

 

Exhibit

No.   Description

     

3.1   Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s

Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on November 15, 2004)

     

3.2   Amendment to Articles of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(i)-1  and 3(i)-2  to the

Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 1, 2012)

     

3.3   Certificate of Amendment to Restated Articles of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to

the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 2, 2016)

     

3.4   Fifth Amended and Restated Bylaws, effective December 13, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1

to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 16, 2019)

4.1 Second Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement dated July 28, 2021 among the Registrant

and the Moroun Family Holders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report

on Form 8-K filed July 29, 2021)

4.2 Joinder Agreement to Registration Rights Agreement dated August 1, 2023, among Registrant and the

Swiftsure Trust (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K filed August

3, 2023)

10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and each of its directors and executive officers

with reporting obligations under Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 27, 2023)

     

31.1*   Chief Executive Officer certification, as adopted pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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31.2*   Chief Financial Officer certification, as adopted pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

     

32.1**   Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as

adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

     

101.INS*   Inline XBRL Instance Document

     

101.SCH*   Inline XBRL Schema Document

     

101.CAL*   Inline XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document

     

101.DEF*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

     

101.LAB*   Inline XBRL Labels Linkbase Document

     

101.PRE*   Inline XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document

     

104*   Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

 

 

 

* Filed herewith.

** Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report on Form 

10-Q to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 

      Universal Logistics Holdings, Inc.

      (Registrant)

       
Date: August 10, 2023November 9, 2023   By: /s/ Tim Phillips
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      Tim Phillips

Chief Executive Officer

       
Date: August 10, 2023November 9, 2023   By: /s/ Jude Beres

      Jude Beres

Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Tim Phillips, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Universal Logistics Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a mat
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made,
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly presen
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the per
presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in w
this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accoun
principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred du
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
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5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control o
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors:

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over finan
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize 
report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 10, 2023November 9, 2023

 

  /s/ Tim Phillips

  Tim Phillips

  Chief Executive Officer

 

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Jude Beres, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Universal Logistics Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a mat
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made,
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly presen
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the per
presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in w
this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accoun
principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
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this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred du
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control o
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors:

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over finan
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize 
report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 10, 2023November 9, 2023

 

  /s/ Jude Beres

  Jude Beres

  Chief Financial Officer

 

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND


CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,


AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO


SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report, or the Report, of Universal Logistics Holdings, Inc., or the Company, on Form 10-Q

for the period ended July 1, 2023September 30, 2023, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date

hereof, each of the undersigned, Tim Phillips, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Jude Beres, as Chief Financial

Officer of the Company, each certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of his knowledge, respectively, that (1) the Report fully complies with the

requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and (2) the information

contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company.

Date: August 10, 2023November 9, 2023

 

  /s/ Tim Phillips

  Tim Phillips
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  Chief Executive Officer

   
  /s/ Jude Beres

  Jude Beres

  Chief Financial Officer

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the 

Report or as a separate disclosure document.
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